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PROSPERITY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

Chairman’s Statement

FEERSE

Annual Report 2024

Dear Shareholders,

For the fiscal year ending 31 December 2024, we find ourselves navigating
an environment marked by subdued productivity, rising global interest rates,
and ongoing geopolitical tensions. The local property and retail markets
have continued their decline, signaling that challenges persist in achieving
a full economic recovery. Despite these trials, our group has demonstrated
vigilance and resilience, carefully managing our operations and financial
resources in a complex and unpredictable landscape.

To address the ongoing volatility in financial markets, we issued convertible
notes during the year to strengthen our financial standing and are actively
exploring options to raise additional equity funding. These strategic
initiatives are aimed at bolstering our balance sheet and seizing investment
opportunities that will enhance shareholder value in these turbulent times.

Lastly, | would like to take this opportunity expressing my warmest thanks to
your support.

Lau Tom Ko Yuen
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 August 2025
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Business Review

In 2024, faced with limited financial resources, the Group focused in
managing our investments on hand, optimising the operation cost base and
raising of new capital in support of our future growth. Trading of our shares
on the Stock Exchange was suspended in April 2024 due to our auditor’s
disclaimer of opinion on our financial information for the year ended 31
December 2023. Every effort was made to overcome the issues to enable the
resumption of trading of our shares.

Operational Review

During the Year, the Group continued its investment activities in both listed
and unlisted investments as well as other related financial assets.

During the Year, the Company had disposed a significant portion of the
listed investments. Consequently, the gross proceeds from the disposal of
financial assets at FVTPL, which were revenue in nature for tax purposes, had
decreased substantially from that of the Year 2023.

Due to the market situation, the stock prices and hence the fair value of our
listed investments had mixed results.

Other than the listed investments, the Group did not make any new unlisted
investment during the Year.
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Financial Review

Results for the Year

The Group reported a loss after tax of approximately HK$17.3 million for the
Year compared to the loss of HK$22.4 million for the Year 2023. Other than
the administrative expenses, investment management expense, had been
reduced from HK$0.56 million to HK$0.48 million, finance costs had been
reduced by HK$0.3 million after the repayment of margin loan from proceeds
on disposal of listed securities in the first half of Year 2024.

The loss for the Year was mainly due to the following reasons:

0] a loss of approximately HK$0.3 million (Year 2023: loss of HK$5.2
million) arose from the change in fair value of revenue in nature listed
equity investments at FVTPL as a result of the fluctuations of the stock
market;

(i)  a loss of approximately HK$Nil (Year 2023: loss of HK$1.7 million)
arose from the change in fair value of capital in nature listed equity
investments at FVTPL as a result of the fluctuations of the stock market;
and

(i) administrative expenses of approximately HK$9.0 million (Year 2023:
HK$9.4 million) due to efforts in costs control.

Other Comprehensive Expense

A fair value loss of HK$NIl (Year 2023: HK$14,894,000) was recognized
as other comprehensive expense. The expense was due to a reduction of
the investment accounted for as financial asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income, which is an indirect effective attributable minority
interest of 7.94% in a zinc and lead mine in the PRC.

The fair value of the investment as at 31 December 2024 was determined
by management based on the limited financial and other information of the
unlisted investee company and the indirectly held lead and zinc mine in the
PRC made available by the controlling shareholder of the unlisted investee
company and the lead and zinc mine in the PRC to the Group.
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Gross proceeds from Operations/Revenue

Gross proceeds from disposal of financial assets
at FVTPL which are revenue in nature for tax
purposes

Dividend income A% B WA

PERATEA ARG ZSRMEE
PSRRI B M S Al @t E

2024 F 3 EERSBERERLQT
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REFRSRIREE KA

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TAT
16,504

30

16,534

As mentioned in the business review section above, during the Year, the
Group had further disposed a portion of the listed investments. The gross
proceeds from the disposal of financial assets at FVTPL which are revenue in
nature, had decreased substantially from that of the Year 2023.

Other losses

Other losses mainly comprised of fair value losses of financial assets at FVTPL
which was analysed in the table below:
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For tax purpose

MRBMS
Revenue Capital
in nature in nature Total
WamtEE BEARMNE 4z
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
2024 20244
Realised losses EEIREIR (6,642) (490) (7,132)
Unrealised losses REIREIE (237) = (237)
(6,879) (490) (7,369)
2023 20234
Realised losses E&IREIR (732) (3,839) (4,571)
Unrealised losses REIRETIR (5,180) (1,726) (6,906)
(5,912) (5,565) (11,477)

Please refer to results for the Year section above and note 7 for analysis and
details.
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Administrative expenses

Among the administrative expenses, staff remuneration of HK$6,037,000
(Year 2023: HK$5,469,000) was the largest item of expenses which
represented approximately 67% (Year 2023: 57%) of the total administrative
expenses. Employees are regarded as the most valuable asset and the Group
aims to reward the staff with competitive remuneration package.

Investment management expenses

Investment management expenses of HK$480,000 (Year 2023: HK$560,000)
represented expenses paid to Opus Capital for the provision of investment
management services to the Group.

Pursuant to the IM Agreement, the appointment of Opus Capital as the
investment manager of the Company was renewed with effect from 1
January 2022 to 31 December 2024 at a fixed monthly management fee
of HK$80,000, which had since been amended by way of a supplemental
agreement on 21 March 2023. The monthly management fee payable by the
Company under the IM Agreement from 1 March 2023 to 31 December 2024
reduced from HK$80,000 to HK$40,000 per month.

Finance costs

Finance costs included interest payment to a securities broker for provision of
margin loan and interest expenses of convertible notes.

In order to better utilize resources, the Group used margin loan provided by
a securities broker for its investment in listed equity securities since 2017.
At Year End Date, the Margin loan from a securities broker amounted to
approximately HK$Nil (31 December 2023: HK$2,415,000) and the related
interest expenses were approximately HK$162,000 (Year 2023: HK$994,000).
Listed investments had been disposed in the first half of Year 2024 and the
proceeds used to reduce the margin loan used to reduce the margin loan and
due to a higher interest rate in the early part of 2024. Hence, interest paid in
the Year was lower than that of Year 2023.
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Investments/Significant Investments

The investment objective of the Group is to enhance the corporate value to
the Shareholders. The strategy of the Group is to identify and invest in both
listed and unlisted investments with potential of growth within their industries.
In identifying potential investment, the Group will consider its business
segment, operation, current value and the potential of going public. Currently,
the Group has no specific industry focus on potential investment.

As mentioned in the market review and operational review, factors contributed
to difficulties in financial sector and hence, the value of listed investments of
the Group had mixed results at Year End Date.

At Year End Date, the Group held the following significant investments:

Wealth Spread Investment Limited (“Wealth Spread”)

Information for this investment:
0} during the Year, fair value remain at HK5,293,000.

(ii) during the Year, realised loss is HK$0 and unrealised loss at Year End
Date amounted to HK$48,753,000 respectively.

(i) at Year End Date, number and percentage of shares held are 147
shares and 14.70% respectively.

(iv)  at Year End Date, its size relative to the Group’s total assets is 86.5%.

The Group held 14.7% equity interest in Wealth Spread as at 31 December
2024. Wealth Spread is an investment holding company with an indirectly
held equity interest of 54% in an entity (the “PRC entity”) principally engaged
in lead and zinc mining in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) as at
31 December 2024. The Group had an indirect effective attributable minority
interest of 7.94% of the PRC entity.
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A fair value loss of approximately HK$NIl (Year 2023: HK$14.9 million) was
recognized as other comprehensive expense. The investment accounted for
financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income, which is an
indirect effective attributable minority interest of 7.94% in a zinc and lead mine
in the PRC.

The fair value of the investment as at 31 December 2024 was referenced by
management to the fair value of the investment as at 31 December 2023,
which determined by management based on the limited financial and other
information of the unlisted investee company and the indirectly held lead
and zinc mine in the PRC made available by the controlling shareholder of
the unlisted investee company and the lead and zinc mine in the PRC to the
Group.

The Board of Directors had been fully informed and accepted the fair value as
at 31 December 2024.

Other details of significant investments of the Group are set out in note 25 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

At Year End Date, the Group had: (i) cash and cash equivalent of
approximately HK$334,000 (31 December 2023: HK$4,017,000); (i) a loan
of HK$NIl (31 December 2023: HK$2,415,000) from a securities broker for
margin financing of listed equity investments of the Group; (i) a loan from a
director of HK$1,000,000 (31 December 2023: HK$600,000; and (iv) a loan
from a director of a subsidiary company of HK$1,160,000 (31 December
2023: HK$1,140,000). All loans mentioned in (i) and (iv) above were non-
interest bearing, repayable on demand and with no guarantee provided by the
Company.

In order to better utilise resources, the Group used Margin loan provided by
a securities broker for the investment in listed equity investments since 2017.
Details of the margin loan were set out in note 9.
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Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio (total liabilities/total assets) at Year End Date was 268.23%
(81 December 2023: 66.33%).

Capital structure

It is the Group’s treasury policy to utilise Shareholders’ fund and internal
resources primarily for its investment activities and daily operations. In order to
preserve resources for potential investments and daily operations, the Group
may also borrow from third parties as and when the circumstances warrant.
Funds are mainly kept in HK$ and will be translated into foreign currencies
when necessary. The Group has no hedging policy.

Outlook

The Hong Kong capital market appears recovering. Management is exploring
options to satisfy all conditions for the resumption of trading of our shares and
to raise additional equity funding in order to strengthen our balance sheet, so
as to enable us to capture investment opportunities here and abroad for the
overall benefit of the Company and shareholders as a whole.

Other Information

Suspension of trading

Trading in the shares of the Company on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) has been suspended with 9:00 a.m. on 2
April 2024 pursuant to the rule 13.50A of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange due to a disclaimer of opinion on the
Company’s financial statements.

On 18 June 2024 and 1 April 2025, the Company received letters from the
Stock Exchange setting out the guidance for the resumption of trading in the
shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange (the “Resumption Guidance”).
The Company is taking appropriate steps to comply with the Resumption
Guidance and the relevant Listing Rules set out therein and will keep the
market informed of the latest developments of the Group by making further
announcement(s) as and when appropriate.
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Charges on assets

Charges on assets of the Group are set out in note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Litigation

There was no outstanding litigation as at Year End Date.

Contingent liabilities

There were no contingent liabilities as at Year End Date.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and
Related Hedges

During the Year, the investments of the Group were mainly denominated in
HK$, USD and RMB. Since HK$ is pegged to USD, significant exposure is
not expected in USD transactions and balances. During the Year, the bank
and cash balances in RMB were not significant and the exposure to RMB is
insignificant.

The Group does not have foreign exchange hedging policy. However,
management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arises.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries,
Associates and Joint Ventures

During the Year, the Group did not have any material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

Due to the business nature, the Group has no major customer and supplier.
Therefore, there is no ageing analysis of the accounts receivable and
accounts payable.

Employee and Remuneration Policies

At Year End Date, the Group had 6 employees and 5 Directors. The
remuneration packages of the employees and Directors include monthly
salary, contribution to MPF Scheme, overtime payment, discretionary bonus
and directors’ fee. Remuneration policies of the Group is to reward the
employees and the Directors with remuneration packages in accordance with
the market situation and their performance from time to time. Remuneration
Committee will meet at least once a year to review the remuneration policy
and package of Directors and senior management of the Group. The
remuneration of other employees is determined by the managing director of
the Group. No Director or executive is involved in determining his/her own
remuneration. The Group has participated in the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds
under the control of an independent trustee. Pursuant to the rules of the
MPF Scheme and the policy of the Group, the Group and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of their
monthly relevant income. Forfeited contribution can be used to reduce future
contribution of the Group.

On-the-job training and continuous professional development are important
elements to enhance the industry knowledge of the employees of the
Group. The Group encourages employees to attend training courses and
reimbursement will be made by the Group for those job-related training
courses. Besides, the Group will purchase relevant reference materials for the
employees’ on-the-job reference.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the Year.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

Discussion and analysis of the Group’s activities can be found in the

Management Discussion of this annual report which form part of this
directors’ report.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 47.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the Year (Year
2023: Nil).

Share Capital

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Plant and Equipments

Details of movements during the Year in plant and equipments of the Group
are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Donations

During the Year, the Group did not make any charitable donation (Year 2023:
HK$Nl).
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Directors
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Director

Vacant (from 10 June 2021)

Non-Executive Director

Mr. LAU Tom Ko Yuen

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. FENG Nien Shu

Mr. LUI Siu Tsuen, Richard
Ms. WONG Lai Kin, Elsa
Mr. IP Kwok Kwong

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-Laws and CG Code of the Listing
Rules at the recommendation of the nomination committee, Mr. LAU Tom
Ko Yuen and Ms. WONG Lai Kin, Elsa shall retire at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management

The biographical details of Directors and senior management as at 29 August
2025, the latest practicable date before printing of this annual report are set
out below:

Executive Director

Vacant (from 10 June 2021)
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Non-Executive Director

Mr. Lau Tom Ko Yuen, aged 74, was appointed as non-executive Director
and subsequently re-designated as executive Director and appointed
as chairman of the Company in 2009. In 2010, he was redesignated as
non-executive Director and deputy chairman of the Company. He has
redesignated as executive Director and appointed as Chairman and Managing
Director of the Company on 21 May 2021. He was redesignated as non-
executive Director and remained as Chairman on 10 June 2021. He is a
member of the remuneration committee and a director of the subsidiaries of
the Company. He has over 45 years of international corporate development
and management experience in infrastructure developments as well as
construction and engineering services involving the road, rail, port, power,
telecommunications, mining and resources sectors in the Asia Pacific Region.

On 21 December 2017, Mr. Lau had entered into appointment letter with the
Company for a term commencing from 21 December 2017 and continue
until terminated by either party by not less than three months prior written
notice or any time agreed by both parties. He is subject to the requirement
that one-third of all the Directors shall retire from office by rotation at each
annual general meeting pursuant to the Bye-Laws of the Company. There is
no relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship) among members of the Board.

During the Year, Mr. Lau received a monthly remuneration of HK$200,000
from the Company beginning 1 April 2023.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lui Siu Tsuen, Richard, aged 69, was appointed as an INED in 2009.
He is the chairman of the audit committee and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company. He is a fellow member of both HKICPA and
The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants in the United Kingdom.
He holds a Master of Business Administration degree from the University
of Adelaide in Australia. He has over 30 years of experience in property
investment, corporate finance and media and entertainment business. Mr.
Lui has resigned as the executive director and the chief executive officer of
eSun Holdings Limited (00571.HK), a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
in October 2023. Mr. Lui was an executive director of Media Asia Group
Holdings Limited (formerly 08075.HK) before it withdrew from listing on 20
March 2023.

Mr. Feng Nien Shu, aged 59, was appointed as an INED in 2009. He is
the chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of the audit
committee and nomination committee of the Company. He holds a Master of
Business Administration degree from the University of Windsor in Canada and
a Bachelor of Arts degree from the York University in Canada. He has over 28
years of experience in investment, merger and acquisition in China and South
East Asia.

Ms. Wong Lai Kin, Elsa, aged 59, was appointed as an INED in 2009.
She is a member of the audit committee and nomination committee of
the Company. She holds a Bachelor and Master degree in Law from The
University of Hong Kong, as well as a Master degree in Corporate Finance
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Ms. Wong is a solicitor of the
Supreme Court of Hong Kong and Supreme Court of England and Wales, a
member of the Hong Kong Law Society and Hong Kong Society for Financial
Analysts. She is a holder of the Chartered Financial Analyst designation.
Ms. Wong has over 30 years of experience in the legal profession, primarily
working as corporate counsel and company secretary of Hong Kong listed
companies.

On 21 December 2017, all of the above independent non-executive
Directors have entered into appointment letters with the Company for a term
commencing from 21 December 2017 and continue until terminated by either
party by not less than three months prior written notice or any time agreed
by both parties. They are subject to the requirement that one-third of all the
Directors shall retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting
pursuant to the Bye-Laws of the Company.
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Mr. Ip Kwok Kwong, aged 64, is a Chartered Valuation Surveyor, a
Registered Professional Surveyor (General Practice) under the Surveyors
Registration Ordinance of Hong Kong and a Registered Business Valuer
of the Hong Kong Business Valuation Forum. Mr. Ip was appointed as
a committee member of the People’s Political Consultative Conference
of Harbin, the PRC in the second half of 2011 after having received the
Outstanding Entrepreneurship Award from the Enterprise Asia, a non-
governmental organisation for entrepreneurship in mid-2011. He has over 30
years of experience in valuation, surveying and corporate development. Mr.
Ip is currently the Executive Director and the Managing Director of Asia Pac
Financial Investment Company Limited (Stock code: 8193. HK).

Mr. Ip does not have a service contract with the Company. He has no fixed
term of service with the Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company.

During the Year, each of the INEDs received director’s fee of HK$100,000
per annum on a proportional basis of time as an independent non-executive
directors. The director’s fee for each of the INEDs will remain at HK$100,000
per annum for year 2025 which is determined with reference to their duties
and the prevailing market conditions.

Senior Management

Mr. Wan Tat Kay, Dominic Savio, aged 68, was appointed as financial
controller and company secretary of the Group on 1 June 2021. He is also
a director of the subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Wan has over 30 years of
experience in auditing and financial management of companies across various
business sectors. He is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a practising certified public accountant in
Hong Kong.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

Confirmation of Independence of
Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual confirmation
of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all of the INEDs are independent.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws, Directors shall be indemnified out of
the assets and profits of the Company against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by or
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution
of their duty, or supposed duty, provided that this indemnity shall not extend
to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to the
Directors.

The Company has taken out and maintained appropriate insurance cover in
respect of potential legal actions against the Directors.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests
and Short Positions in Shares and
Underlying Shares

At Year End Date, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company and any of their associates in the Shares and
underlying Shares or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as
follows:

Long positions in the Shares

Personal’
Interests

Name of Director ESE P fAARED N
Lau Tom Ko Yuen E =5 5,340,000 26,689,084
* Beneficial owner
+ Interests of spouse
# Interests beneficially held by the company itself or through companies controlled
by it
Note:

26,689,084 Shares were held by ALL Fame Developments Limited, a company
controlled as to 100% by Sun Matrix Limited. Sun Matrix Limited was controlled as to
50% by Mr. Lau Tom Ko Yuen and 50% by Ms. Lan Yi, the spouse of Mr. Lau Tom Ko
Yuen.

Save as disclosed above, at Year End Date, none of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company nor their associates had or was deemed to have
any interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares or any of its
associated corporations as recorded in the register that required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Family*
Interests
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Substantial Shareholders

At Year End Date, the following persons had interests and short positions in
the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the Shares
Personal Family*
Interest Interests
Name of Shareholder RERATE fBAAER N
ALL Fame Developments Limited mZ%EERAT -

Sun Matrix Limited Sun Matrix Limited -

Lau Tom Ko Yuen* 2sE 5,340,000 26,689,084
LanYi BE— - 32,029,084
+ Interests of spouse
# Interests beneficially held by the company itself or through companies controlled
by it
* Mr. Lau Tom Ko Yuen is a non-executive Director and Chairman of the Company.
Note:

ALL Fame Developments Limited was controlled as to 100% by Sun Matrix Limited,
which in turn 50% controlled by Mr. Lau Tom Ko Yuen the non-executive director and
Chairman of the Company, and 50% by Ms. Lan Yi, the spouse of Mr. Lau Tom Ko
Yuen.

Save as disclosed above, at Year End Date, the Directors were not aware of any other
person who had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares as
recorded in the register that required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO and/or were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the nominal
value of the share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings
of any other members of the Group.
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Arrangements to Purchase Shares or
Convertible Notes

At no time during the Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or convertible notes of, the Company or any other
body corporate and neither the Directors nor the chief executive, nor any of
their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for
the securities of the Company.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts of Significance

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year
or at any time during the Year.

Connected Transaction

Investment Management Agreement

2022 IM Agreement

On 26 January 2022, the Company entered into the 2022 IM Agreement
with Opus Capital for the appointment of Opus Capital as the Company’s
investment manager for the period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December
2024,

Under the 2022 IM Agreement, Opus Capital is entitled to:

(@) a management fee of a fixed amount of HK$80,000 per month
(exclusive of disbursements); and

(b)  discretionary bonus, if any and at such amount as the Board may at
its discretion determine, provided that no such bonus shall be payable
unless the Adjusted NAV as at the end of each Financial Year exceeds
the higher of: (i) the Net Asset Value for the year ended 31 December
2021; and (i) the Adjusted NAV of the most recent Financial Year after
year 2021 for which Opus Capital is paid a discretionary bonus. The
amount of such bonus will be capped at HK$200,000 for each financial
year. Such bonus, if any, shall be paid within 30 days after the issue of
the audited financial statements of the Group for the relevant Financial
Year.
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An amendment had been made and announced on 21 March 2023, reducing
the monthly management fee from HK$80,000 to HK$40,000 from 1 March
2023 until the contract expired on 31 December 2024.

Information on Opus Capital

Opus Capital is a corporation licensed to carry out Type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities under the SFO. It was incorporated in
Hong Kong in 2014 and is principally engaged in the business of provision
of investment services covering traditional and alternative investments via
various platforms.

Being the investment managers of the Company, Opus Capital are connected
person under Rule 14A.08 of the Listing Rules.

Further particulars of the above connected transaction is disclosed in note
26 to the consolidated financial statements and it has complied with the
requirements (including the disclosure requirements) of Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Save as disclosed above, the Group does not have other
connected transaction.

The Board (including INEDs) confirmed that the 2022 IM Agreement are
entered into by the Group in the ordinary and usual course of business, on
normal commercial terms and such transaction is fair and reasonable, in the
interests of the Shareholders as a whole and is conducted in accordance with
the terms of 2022 IM Agreement.

The Board confirmed that the auditor of the Company has issued to the
Board an unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transaction of the Group in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Management Contracts

Save as the investment management agreement, the details of which
are disclosed under the connected transaction section of this report, no
contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the Year.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties
The principal risks of the Group are highlighted as below:

1. The principal activity of the Group is highly affected by the volatility and
uncertainty of the worldwide economies which in turn affect the earning
power of business enterprises and the fluctuation in stock markets.
Hence, the Group is subject to the risk of decrease in the price and
value of its investments measured at FVTPL and FVOCI.

2. For investments measured at FVTPL, the financial impact on the
decrease in price of the investments is set out in note 30.2(iii) to the
consolidated financial statements.

3. For investments measured at FVOCI, the financial impact on the
decrease in fair value of the investments which in turn causes a
increase/decrease in Net (Liabilities)/Asset Value is set out in note 30.5
to the consolidated financial statements.

4. In order to mitigate the risk, the Group engages an experienced
investment director and investment manager to manage the diversified
investment portfolio of the Group. Besides, an investment committee
will also review the investment portfolio regularly.

Key Performance Indicator

Being an investment company, the objective of the Group is to invest in quality
investments which in turn enhance the corporate value to the Shareholders.
For both short term and long term investments, a major objective of the
Group is to achieve a gain in asset value of the investments which in turn
increase the value of the Group. Hence, the Net Asset Value, which shows
the value of the Group, is considered as the key performance indicator
of the Group. The Net (Liabilities)/Asset Value is set out in note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Environment Policies and Performance

The Group promotes environmental protection in daily business operations
including recycling consumables such as papers and reducing the energy
consumption by switching off idle lightings and appliances.

The Group will review its environmental protection practices from time to time
and will consider further eco-friendly measures and practices in the operation.

The environmental policies and performance of the Group are discussed in
more detail in the ESG Report of this annual report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group pays attention to legal and regulatory requirements in designing
its policies and practices. Being listed in the Stock Exchange with businesses
mainly in Hong Kong and the PRC, the laws and regulations that have
significant impact on the Group include Listing Rules and those laws of Hong
Kong on securities, companies, taxation and labour. The Listing Rules, laws
on securities and companies govern the listing and legal status of the Group,
the trading of the Shares and equity investments on the Stock Exchange. The
law on taxation governs the taxability of the activities of the Group which in
turn affects the profit and loss attributable to the Shareholders. The law on
labour governs the employment of the Group which affects the remuneration
and retirement benefits payable to the employees of the Group. The Board is
not aware of any significant non-compliance of relevant laws and regulations.
Legal and compliance advisers will be engaged when necessary to ensure the
Group operates in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

Relationship with Stakeholders

The Group identified that the key stakeholders are employees of the Group
and the Shareholders.

Employees

The activities of the Group is heavily relied on the quality and loyalty of the
employees. Employees are regarded as the most valuable assets of the
Group. The Group is aimed to reward the staff with competitive remuneration
package and to provide staff with healthy and safety working environment.
Staff are encouraged to attend training courses and reimbursement will
be made for job-related training courses. The Group also promotes the
employee involvement in effective communications in designing its policies
and practices. The “social” section of the ESG Report has a more detail
discussion.
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Shareholders

The Shareholders support the Group’s activities by providing funding to the
Group. One of the goals of the Group is to enhance the corporate value to
the Shareholders. The Group strives to obtain the quality investments in order
to enhance the asset value and profitability of the Group which in turn the
wealth of the Shareholders. The Group maintains regular communication with
Shareholders by way of general meetings and announcements.

Customers and Suppliers

Due to the business nature, the Group has no major customer and supplier.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Shares of
the Company

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Shares during the Year.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-
Laws, or the Company Act (1981) of Bermuda, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

Tax Relief and Exemption

Except for dividend income which is exempt from tax in Hong Kong, the
Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of holding the Shares.

Dividend Policy

The Board may declare dividend from time to time. The Board has absolute
discretion in the declaration of dividend after taking into account the following
factors:

Reserves of the Group available for distribution;
Performance of the Group;

Anticipation of future outlook of the economy;

Liquidity position and capital requirements of the Group; and
Any other matters considered appropriate by the Board.
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Subsequent Events

There is no major event subsequent Year End Date.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float as required under the Listing Rules.

Closure of the Register of Members

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 23 September
2025 to 30 September 2025, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares will be registered. In order to determine the identity of
the shareholders who are entitled to attend and vote at the annual general
meeting, all duly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited, at 17/F., Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 22 September 2025.

Auditor

Rongcheng (Hong Kong) CPA Limited retires and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Lau Tom Ko Yuen
Chairman
Hong Kong, 29 August 2025
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The Group is dedicated to maintaining a good credible framework
of corporate governance with a view to being transparent, open and
accountable to Shareholders.

The Company adopted all the code provisions in the CG Code as its own
code on corporate governance practices.

During the Year, the Company complied with the code provisions in the CG
Code except for the following deviations:

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separated and should not be performed by the
same individual.

From 10 June 2021, due to the position of executive director was vacant, all
investing/divesting activities had to be pre-approved by Opus Capital.

The Company had received approval from the Stock Exchange for a
suitable person to act as its executive director and chief executive. Once
the appointment is made, the Company will make an announcement in
compliance with the Listing Rules.

The Board

Composition

The Board currently consists of one non-executive Director and four INEDs.
Mr. Lui Siu Tsuen, Richard, an INED, has the appropriate professional
accounting experience and expertise. The names and biographical details of
each Director are set out on pages 16 to 18 of this annual report.

During the Year, all Directors have attended seminars and provided reading
materials covering a wide range of topics including corporate governance
and updates on the Listing Rules and Companies Ordinance. All Directors
have provided record of seminars attendance. The Company will continue to
arrange and/or fund the training in accordance with the CG Code. The Board
has a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the
business of the Group.
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Function

The Board is responsible both for how the Company is managed and the
Company’s direction. Approval of the Board is required for the strategy of the
Group, major acquisition and disposal, major capital investment, dividend
policy, appointment and retirement of Directors, remuneration policy and other
major operational and financial matters. Day-to-day operations of the Group
are taken up by the Company’s management and the Company’s investment
manager.

The Board established schedule of matters specifically reserved to the Board
for its decision and those reserved for the management. The Board reviews
this schedule on a periodic basis to ensure that it remains appropriate to the
needs of the Company.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions
such as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices on
corporate governance, risk management, training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, etc. The
Board held meetings from time to time whenever necessary.

The Board established procedures to enable Directors, upon reasonable
request,
circumstances at the Company’s expense.

to seek independent professional advice in appropriate

Since 10 June 2021, the Board meets on a monthly basis to approve net
assets value announcement due to the vacancy in the position of executive
director.

Additional board meetings were held when necessary. Due notice and board
papers were given to all Directors prior to the meeting in accordance with the
Listing Rules and the CG Code.
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The attendance records of the Directors for the Board and committee
meetings and the general meetings for the Year are as follows:

REFEENEFREFEER - ZETTHEK
IRRAEZHFELENT !

No. of meetings attended/No. of meetings held

HEGERYBTEERY

Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
£xg BREEE FNEEE R2ZEE BRERE
Directors £
Executive Director HITES
Vacant (from 10 June 2021) ARG ZE (F20214F
6510872
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Lau Tom Ko Yuen (Chairman) ~ 2IBIR (Z/&) 6/6 N/A il 1/1 1/1
TER
INEDs BIFYTER
Feng Nien Shu BB 6/6 2/2 1/1 1/1 1/1
Lui Siu Tsuen, Richard BIR 6/6 2/2 11 N/A 11
FER
Wong Lai Kin, Elsa HER 6/6 2/2 N/A 11 11
REA
IP Kwok Kwong BEY 6/6 2/2 N/A N/A 1/1
TEH FEH
Total number of meetings EEERITEHRAH 6 2 1 1 1

held during the Year

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Company adopted the Model Code as the codes of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors and by relevant employees of the
Company. All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiries by the
Company, that they fully complied with the Model Code and its code of
conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions throughout the Year.
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Board Committees

To strengthen the functions of the Board and to enhance its expertise,
there are three board committees, namely Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee formed under the Board, with each
performing different functions.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises of four INEDs, namely Mr. LUI Siu Tsuen,
Richard, Mr. FENG Nien Shu, Ms. WONG Lai Kin, Elsa and Mr. IP Kwok
Kwong. The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. LUl Siu Tsuen, Richard.

The role and function of the Audit Committee include:

- to serve as a focal point for communication between other directors
and the auditor in respect of the duties relating to financial and other
reporting, internal controls, audits, and such other matters as the Board
may determine from time to time.

- to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibility by providing an
independent review and supervision of financial reporting, by satisfying
themselves as to the effectiveness of the internal controls of the Group
and the adequacy of the audits.

- to review the appointment of auditor on an annual basis including the
review of the audit scope and approval of the audit fees.

- to review the annual and interim financial statements prior to their
approval by the Board, and recommend application of accounting

policies and changes to the financial reporting requirements.

- to ensure continuing auditor objectivity and to safeguard independence
of the Company'’s auditor.

Set out below is the summary of work done during the Year:

- to review the financial statements for Year 2023 and for the six months
ended 30 June 2024;

- to review of the effectiveness of the internal control of the Company;
and

- to review the independence of auditor.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises of one non-executive director
namely Mr. LAU Tom Ko Yuen and two INEDs, namely Mr. FENG Nien Shu
and Mr. LUI Siu Tsuen, Richard. The Remuneration Committee is chaired by
Mr. FENG Nien Shu.

The role and function of the Remuneration Committee include formulation of
the remuneration policy, review and recommending to the Board the annual
remuneration policy, and determination of the remuneration of the executive
Directors. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model under
the CG Code to determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual executive Director and senior management. The
Directors are remunerated with reference to their respective duties and
responsibility with the Company, the Company’s performance and current
market situation.

Set out below is the summary of work done during the Year:
- to review of the remuneration policy and package; and
- to approve and review the remuneration of non-executive Directors.

Details of Directors’ emoluments for the Year are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises of one non-executive director namely
Mr. LAU Tom Ko Yuen and two INEDs, namely Mr. FENG Nien Shu and Ms.
WONG Lai Kin, Elsa. The Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. LAU Tom
Ko Yuen.

The role and function of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board, formulating relevant procedures
for nomination of Directors, identifying qualified individuals to become
members of the Board and making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors.
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Directors or Shareholders, in accordance to the Bye-Laws of the Company,
may nominate candidate for appointment as Director. When assessing
candidates for directorship, the nomination committee will take into
consideration the skills, experience, education background, professional
knowledge, personal integrity, board diversity and potential contribution to
the Company of the proposed candidates. The proposed candidates should
meet the standards as set forth in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing Rules.
Potential candidates for INED should also meet the independence criteria
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Qualified candidates will then be
recommended to the Board for approval.

Set out below is the summary of work done during the Year:
- to review the structure, size and composition of Board; and

- to review the policy and procedures for nomination of Directors.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) which sets
out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Board will review
such objectives from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and the
progress made towards achieving those objectives. The Company will also
take into consideration its own specific needs from time to time in determining
the optimum composition of the Board.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledged that it is responsible for the Systems and reviewing
their effectiveness. The Systems are designed to manage rather that eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The management is responsible for the design, implementation and
monitoring of the Systems and the Board oversees the management in
performing its duties on an ongoing basis.
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Risk Management System

The Group adopted a risk management policy which sets out the structure of
the risk management, responsibility between Directors and management of
the Group, and the procedures on the risk management of the Group.

The Board identified risks in accordance with the business nature of the
Group. For those significant risks identified, the management will prepare
relevant policies and procedures for the daily operation of the Group.
Management will monitor the significant risk during the operation and report
to the Board on the effectiveness of the risk management system on a regular
basis. Weakness identified in the risk management system will be remediated
as soon as possible.

Internal Control System

Internal control systems were set up according to the operations of the Group
which cover the financial, operational and compliance aspects of the Group.
Relevant policies and procedures have been prepared for the daily operation
of the management. Internal audit consultant will review the effectiveness
of the internal control systems on rotational basis with each system to be
reviewed at least once in every three years. The internal audit consultant will
report the review results to the audit committee and Board twice a year.

Specific to the dissemination of inside information, the Group has an inside
information disclosure policy and procedures which set out procedures on
the dissemination of inside information. An inside information disclosure
committee has been set up to manage the dissemination of the inside
information. Whenever there is inside information, the inside information
disclosure committee will make recommendation to the Board for the
approval of disseminating the inside information. The internal audit consultant
will review the effectiveness of this internal control system and report to the
Board for remedial action if weakness were identified.

Internal Audit

An independent third party with extensive experience in reviewing internal
control system of listed companies has been engaged to perform the internal
audit function of the Group. The scope of internal audit will be determined
at the start of each year. As part of the ongoing review of the Systems, the
internal audit reviews the Systems, makes recommendation and reports to the
audit committee twice a year.
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Review and effectiveness of the Systems

The management provided confirmation to the Board on the effectiveness of
the Systems which cover the Year on a quarterly basis. As mentioned above,
the internal audit consultant reviews the Systems and reports to the audit
committee and the Board twice a year.

In addition to the above, the Board in its annual review further considered
that: (i) there are no changes in the nature and extent of significant risks
and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in the business and external
environment; (i) the scope and quality of the ongoing monitoring of the
Systems by the management, internal audit consultant and external auditor
are adequate; (jii) the extent and frequency of communicating the monitoring
results to the Board are sufficient; (iv) there is no significant control failure
or weakness; and (v) the processes for financial reporting and Listing Rules
compliance are effective.

The Board, through its review on the regular confirmation from the
management and the internal audit function, concluded that the Systems
were effective and adequate. It also considered that the resources, staff
qualifications and experience of relevant staff were adequate and the training
programmes and budget provided were sufficient.

Auditor’s Remuneration

The fees paid/payable to the Company’s auditor, Messrs. Rongcheng (Hong
Kong) CPA Limited during the Year for auditing and non-auditing services is

analysed as below:

Auditing for the Year KEE 22

Non-auditing: FEIZ B
Agreed-upon procedures on Preliminary Results KEEN L EER

Announcement for the Year
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Directors’ Responsibility for Preparing the
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing the
financial statements. The statement of the auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 43 to 46.

Shareholders’ Rights

Pursuant to the Bye-Laws of the Company, the Shareholders, holding at
the date of deposit of the written requisition to the Board or the company
secretary of the Company not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company,
may require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionists themselves may do so.

Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the Company to
convene a general meeting following the procedures set out in the preceding
paragraph. The written requisition should be signed by the requisitionists and
deposited at the head office of the Company, specifying the shareholders’
contact details and the resolution intended to be put forward at general
meeting.

For including a resolution to propose a person for election as a Director at
general meeting, Shareholders are requested to follow the Bye-Laws of the
Company. A written notice signed by a Shareholder (other than the person
to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the general meeting of
the Company for which such notice is given of his intention to propose such
person for election and also a written notice signed by the person to be
proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the head
office of the Company provided that the minimum length of the period, during
which such notices are given, shall be at least seven days and that the period
for lodgment of such notices shall commence no earlier than the day after
the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting of the Company appointed
for such election and end no later than seven days prior to the date of such
general meeting. The written notice must state that person’s biographical
details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules. The procedures for
Shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director is posted on the
Company'’s website.
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Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the
Company’s registrar. Shareholders and the investment community may at any
time make a request for the Company’s information to the extent that such
information is publically available. Shareholders may also make enquiries to
the Board by writing to the company secretary at the Company’s head office
in Hong Kong at Suite 401, 4/F, Lansing House, 41-47 Queen’s Road Central,
Central, Hong Kong.

Shareholder Communication and Investor
Relations

The objective of Shareholder communication is to provide Shareholders with
detailed information about the Company so that they can exercise their rights
as Shareholders in an informed manner.

The Company uses a range of communication tools to ensure Shareholders
are kept well informed of key business imperatives. These include annual
general meeting, annual report, various notices, announcements and
circulars. Procedure for voting by poll has been read out by the chairman at
the general meeting.

At the general meetings held during the Year, a separate resolution was
proposed by the chairman in respect of each separate issue, including re-
election of the Directors and were voted by poll. The Company appointed the
share registrar of the Company to act as scrutineer of the poll to ensure that
votes cast are properly counted and recorded. The results of the poll were
announced in accordance with the Listing Rules.

In Year 2023, there had been amendments to the Company‘s Bye-laws.

The Listing Rules were amended by, among others, adopting a uniform set of
14 core shareholder protection standards for issuers regardless of their place
of incorporation set out in Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules.

A special resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company 2022 annual
general meeting of the Company had amended the Company’s Bye-Laws to
incorporate the above amendments to Listing Rules.
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IRIE « HHERERERS

Scope

This report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules.

The principal activities of the Group is investment activities in listed and
unlisted investments and other related financial assets. This report covers the
principal activities of the Company and its principal subsidiaries for the Year. It
focuses on the aspects which have been identified as material to the principal
activities of the Group.

The environmental and social areas are addressed in this report and the
governance area is addressed in the corporate governance report as set out
on pages 38 to 42 of this annual report.

Overview

The approach and strategy of the Group for the environmental and social
areas is 1o raise the awareness of the employees in these areas which turn
into action during the daily operation of the Group with the objectives: (i) to
cause less harm to the environment and contribute to the environmental
friendly eco-system of the world; (i) to be a responsible employer; and (i) to
enhance the wealth of the stakeholders.

In order to achieve the above objectives, the Board aware the importance of
and acknowledge the responsibility for the strategy and reporting the
environmental and social areas of the Group.

Aspects which are considered material and in high priorities in the
environmental and social areas are highlighted as below.
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Environmental

The principal activities of the Group is investment activities in listed and
unlisted investments and other related financial assets. The use of resources
of the Group are mainly electricity and papers for office and reporting
purposes. The major emission of greenhouse gas is carbon dioxide through
the consumption of electricity and papers.

Emissions and use of resources

It is the policy of the Group to minimise the use of resources in order to
reduce the emission of carbon dioxide. The resources consumption and
emission are listed as below:

Resources consumption/Carbon dioxide emission

BEIRHE —abiRNE

Resources consumption &R #E
Paper consumption

HRSRIHFE

Carbon dioxide emission (indirect emissions) Z & 1CAtHEM S (RI1EHER)
Paper consumption

HRSRIHFE

Electricity was covered by the landlord without separate meter. Hence, the
resources consumption and carbon dioxide emission of electricity are not
available.

The water consumption of the Group is minimum and immaterial. In view of
the business nature, the Group is not aware of any significant generation of
hazardous waste.

In view of the principal activities of the Group, the Group is not aware of any
relevant laws and regulations in relation to environmental protection that have
significant impact on the Group.

All automobiles held by the Group are either hybrid or electricity driven in
order to reduce carbon dioxide emission.

IRIR - HHERERERS
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Impact on use of resources

In order to minimise the impact on environment, it is the aim of the Group
to minimise the use of resources in order to reduce the emission of carbon
dioxide. The Group has the following measures for achieving this aim:

1. switching off unnecessary lighting and electronic appliances (e.g.
computer) in order to reduce the electricity consumption;

2. using FSC certified paper for printing of interim and annual reports;

3. encouraging the employees to use electronic means for record keeping
in order to reduce the use of paper;

4., encouraging employees to use one-side printed recycle paper for
printing draft;

5. using air-conditioning with thermostats to maintain optimum
temperature for both occupants’ comfort and energy saving; and

6. assessing the compliance of environmental, social and governance
practice of investee when considering future investments.

Social

Employment

Employees is the most valuable asset to the Group. It is the policy of
the Group to employ person which is suitable to the position with equal
opportunity. Competitive remuneration package will be provided for the
employees. The Group will also comply with the relevant employment laws
and regulations.
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At Year End Date, the Group had 6 employees with ages ranging from 59 to
69 who have worked in the Group ranging from 1 year to about 15 years. The
distribution of gender of the employee of the Company is shown in the table
below:

As at iy

1 January 2024 20241818

Year End Date

The laws on labour govern the employment of the Group which affect the
remuneration and retirement benefits payable to the employees of the Group.

The Group is not aware of any non-compliance with employment related laws
and regulations that have significant impact on the Group during the Year.

Health and safety

It is the policy of the Group to provide a healthy and safety working
environment to the employees. The Group will maintain its office premises
from time to time in order to provide a safety working place for the employees.
The Group also encourage employees to participate in recreational activities
organised by outside parties.

The laws on health and safety working environment governs the provision of
a healthy and safety working environment and compensation, if any, to the
employees of the Group.

The Group is not aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations in relation to health and safety working environment during the
Year that have significant impact on the Group.

The Group regularly promotes employees’ occupational safety and health
good practice at work in the aspects of lighting condition, use of office
equipment, office safety, computer workstation design and working posture
through briefing and various communication channels, resulting in better
working environment quality.

IRIR - HHERERERS
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Development and training

On-the-job training and continuous professional development are important
elements to enhance the industry knowledge of the employees of the Group.
The Group encourage employees to attend training courses (e.g. Listing Rules
and accountancy related seminars) and reimbursement will be made by the
Group for those job-related training courses. Besides, the Group will purchase
relevant reference materials for the employees’ self-studly.

Labour standards

It is the policy of the Group to comply with the relevant laws and regulations
which prohibit the employment of child and forced labour.

The Group is not aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations in relation to preventing child and forced labour during the Year
that have significant impact on the Group.

Supply chain management and product responsibility

The supply chain contributes only to a small part of the operation of the Group
which the Group has no policy on this area.

The Group does not have products or services provided to customers and
hence the product responsibility is not applicable to the Group.

Anti-corruption

The Group has a whistleblowing policy for employees reporting suspicious
cases to the top management of the Group or the Directors.

The laws on anti-corruption ensure the integrity of Directors and employees of
the Group in conducting the business activities of the Group.

The Group is not aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations in relation to anti-corruption during the Year that have significant
impact on the Group.

Contribution to community

With base in Hong Kong and investments in Hong Kong and the PRC,
the Group did not make any donations to charitable organisations during
the Year. In the future, the Group will encourage staff to engage charities
or non-governmental organizations for volunteering and corporate social
responsibility opportunities.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

7 1% IRCHK

Prosperity Investment Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Disclaimer of Opinion

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of Prosperity
Investment Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group. Because of the significance of the matters described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion
on these consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our
opinion the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

As disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
held 14.7% equity interest in Wealth Spread Investment Limited (“Wealth
Spread”) as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. Wealth Spread is an investment
holding company with an indirectly held equity interest of 54% in an entity
(the “PRC entity”) principally engaged in zinc and lead mining in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. The Group
had an indirect effective attributable minority interest of 7.94% of the PRC
entity.

The Group’s investment in Wealth Spread (the “Investment”) is classified and
accounted for as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”) and carried in the consolidated statement of financial
position of the Group at its fair value as at 31 December 2024 of
approximately HK$5,293,000 (2023: HK$5,293,000), which resulted in a
fair value loss of approximately HK$Nil (2023: HK$14,894,000) recognised
as other comprehensive expense in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024. The fair value of the Investment as at 31 December 2024
was referenced by management to the fair value of the Investment as at 31
December 2023, which was determined by management based on limited
financial and other information of Wealth Spread and the PRC entity made
available to the Group and a valuation performed by an independent external
valuer (the “Valuer”) engaged by management of the Company.
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The Valuer's work in estimating the fair value of the Investment (the
“Valuation”) involved significant use of source data, and significant
assumptions, these assumptions and inputs primarily including the future
cash flows of the PRC entity, such as the commencement date of mining,
forecasted production volume and associated costs to be incurred, the details
of which were disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

We were unable to be satisfied about the relevance, completeness and
accuracy of the source data used in the Valuation, as well as the relevance
and reasonableness of the significant assumptions adopted in the Valuation
because neither the Valuer nor we were provided with the most recent
production plan containing specific information, including but not limited to,
annual production volume and corresponding costs to support the Valuation.

Therefore, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence that
the fair value of the Investment as estimated by the Group’s management
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023, including the latest overall development
plan of the PRC entity, such as the revised timeline, the revised estimated
capital expenditure, mining related cost and operating expenses to access
the appropriateness and accuracy of the financial information, as such did
not contain material misstatement. There were no other satisfactory audit
procedures that we could perform to determine whether any adjustments to
the carrying value of Wealth Spread and the related fair value loss recognised
in other comprehensive expense and investment revaluation reserve balances
as at and for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 were necessary.
Any adjustments found to be necessary could also affect the related elements
making up and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements which
indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of HK$17,295,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and as at 31 December 2024, the Group’s net
liabilittes amounted to HK$10,299,000. The Group’s total borrowings and
convertible notes amounted to HK$10,160,000, out of which HK$6,160,000,
are repayable on demand or due for repayment within the next twelve months
from the end of the reporting period, while its bank balances and cash
amounted to HK$330,000 at 31 December 2024.

These conditions, together with other matters described in note 2 to
the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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Responsibilities of Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section
90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.
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However, because of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of
Opinion section of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated
financial statements. In all other respects, in our opinion, the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics for

Professional Accountants issued by the HKICPA (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Rongcheng (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

29 August 2025

HONG TING
Practising Certificate No.: PO7069
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income

e REMEE SR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE20245%12H31HIEEE

2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
= FAET FAEIT
Gross Proceeds from Operations/ RS ARIB4ERE, WA
Revenue 6 16,534
Revenue A 6 (3 30
Other losses HAthgs18 7 (7,369) (11,477)
Other Income Hlk A 8 240 10
Administrative expenses TR (8,986) (9,407)
Investment management expenses KREEERS 26 (480) (560)
Finance costs B A 9 (706) (997)
Loss before income tax PREFISTRAIRSIE (17,295) (22,401)
Income tax expense PSR 10 - —
Loss for the Year FEEE 11 (17,295) (22,401)
Other comprehensive expense: Hth2mpask :
Item that will not be reclassified BEFEENDEERZH
subsequently to profit or loss: IgH :
Fair value loss on financial assets at BAFESAEMEZERGEZ
fair value through other comprehensive ETMEENFEREE
income (“FVOCI”) (14,894)
Total comprehensive expense for the TATEE AEEEE
year attributable to owners of the 2EMZEEE
Company (17,295) (87,295)
Loss Per Share SREE
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) — BERRKEE GB) 14 (14.28) (18.49)

The notes on pages 53 to 120 are an integral part of these consolidated £553F120E 2 i AG S BRER 2 —
financial statements. =i
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

EEMEBIRR

As at 31 December 2024 /420245F12831H

2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 FHET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERERE
Non-current assets EREEE
Plant and equipments iR 55 B e84 15 619
Financial assets at FVOCI BAFEFAEMEERGEZ
EREE 16 5,293
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFAEBEERZ
profit or loss ("FVTPL") SREE 16 822
6,734
Current assets MBIEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BRFEF AB =
TMEE 16 9,956
Other receivables HAuhE U RS 17 71
Cash held by securities brokers BEHELLETFEZIRE 18 14
Bank balances and cash IRITAGRRIRE 18 4,003
14,044
Current liabilities Bt B=RE
Loan from a securities broker KEZBHLLZER 19 - 2,415
Other payables and accruals H e ERIEF FE 5T ERIB 20 6,261 5,627
Borrowings =N 21 2,160 1,740
Convertible notes ARG EE 22 4,000 -
12,421 9,782
Net current (liabilities) assets e (R EEFE (11,859) 4,262
Total assets less current liabilities BERERTBERE (6,299) 10,996
Non-current liability JEREAE
Convertible notes BIEiayE S 22 4,000 4,000
Net (liabilities) assets (Baf) EERE (10,299) 6,996
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SERBIRR

As at 31 December 2024 122024%E12831H

2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
Ff 5 FAET TFAET
Capital and reserves B K HEE

Share capital [N 23 121 121
Reserves B (10,420) 6,875
Total (deficit) equity (k518) ReA4E (10,299) 6,996

Net (Liabilities) Asset Value per B (&) BEEFE (B
Share (HK$) 24 0.06

Lau Tom Ko Yuen Z|E R Lui Siu Tsuen, Richard ZJkR

Director &%

Director &%

The notes on pages 53 to 120 are an integral part of these consolidated $53FE120B M EBR G HFRE 2 —

financial statements.
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PROSPERITY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

y

Annual Report 2024

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
n‘Tﬂ*Eﬁ%@Jﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;ZE2024%F12831HILEE

Investment
Share Share  revaluation Contributed Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve surplus losses equity
RESf
B BRinEE it BERRE RitEsiE 4B ME
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TET TET TAET AT TAT
At 1 January 2023 120231818 30,283 192,895 (33,859 290,081 (435,109) 44,291
Loss for the year FEBE - - - - (22,401) (22,401)
Other comprehensive =~ EMZEHZ
expense
Fair value loss on financial AT EF AE
assets at FVOCI 2ENEZ S/
BENTEHE - - (14,894) - - (14,894)
Total comprehensive -’DFF 2EEZ
expense for the year 2% — — (14,894) — (22,401) (37,295)
Capital reorganisation 2023F 1251312
effective on BV ENE
13 December 2023 (30,162) — — 30,162 — —
At 31 December 2023 142023125318
and 1 January 2024 20241818 121 192,895 (48,753) 320,243 (457,510) 6,996
Loss for the year FERE - - - - (17,295) (17,295)
Total comprehensive fﬂ? FEMAZ
expense for the year k] - — — — (17,295) (17,295)
At 31 December 2024 1420245128318 121 192,895 (48,753) 320,243 (474,805) (10,299
The notes on pages 53 to 120 are an integral part of these consolidated $£53F120B M FEBR G S HFRE 2 —

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
tTeRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024512831HIEFEE

2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
= FHET FAEIT
Cash flows from operating activities REETHRBRERE
Loss before income tax FRPRISIRRIES 18 (17,295) (22,401)
Adjustments for: MU TRIBELAEE .
Depreciation of plant and equipments BEMEKRKEITE 162 211
Finance costs B R A 9 706 997
Dividend income XISV ON (6) (30)
Gain on disposal of plant and equipments H & B B B 5% 1 W & (52) -
Net fair value loss of financial assets BAFESABmZ S/
at FVTPL BEATEFEE 7,369 11,477
Operating loss before working capital changes &2 & & & )] 2 £ & 5518 (9,116) (9,746)
Increase in other receivables HAuhrE U AR IEIE 0 (25) (69)
Increase in other payables and accruals H e BRIE K FE 5T AR TEIE N 634 2,217
Net proceeds from disposal/purchases of HE EERATESABR
financial assets at FVTPL ZEMEEZFSRIEEEE 3,277 15,887
Cash (used in) generated from operations & (Frm) /FiisiRe (5,230) 8,289
Dividend received BUYERE 6 30

Net cash (used in) generated from
operating activities

ARECTE) (B FF) s F4E
(5,224) 8,319

Cash flows from investing activities

REZHFRFRERE

Payment for purchases of plant and BEWEKRKEZAR

equipments -
Proceeds from disposal of plant and KEHEREMRE

equipments -
Net cash generated from investing activities — R & Z B2 FE88 -

The notes on pages 53 to 120 are an integral part of these consolidated 553F120B 2 M BH G EMBFRE 2 —

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024F128331HIEFE

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAEIT
Cash flows from financing activities BEEBFRGRERE
Proceed from loan from a director KE—EZEFENER 200
Repayment to loan from a director BE-—=EZENEXR (610)
Repayment to loan from BEBIFE=EN
a third party =EN (400)
Proceed from loan from a director of KE—FREMNEEM
a subsidiary company = 1,611 1,140
Repayment to loan from a director of BE—TRAINEEN
a subsiding company B (1,591) -
Repayment to loan from a securities broker ~ EERKBEHLELZ BN (2,415) (8,090)
Proceed from convertible notes REAREKERE 4,000 4,000
Finance costs B FE Bl A (706) (997)
Net cash generated from (used in) financing — FEESEBI 1S~ (BF/E) B 558
activities (4,757)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and REREFEREER
cash equivalents GRiL) /1138 (3,683) 3,562
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R1B1HZREREE
RLIEH 455
Cash and cash equivalents at M12B31BZREREE
31 December REIEE 4,017
Represented by 15
Bank balances and cash IRITHERKRIRE 4,003
Cash held by securities brokers BERGEFEZRE 14
4,017

The notes on pages 53 to 120 are an integral part of these consolidated 553F120B 2 M BM G EMBFRE 2 —
financial statements. =i
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2024 F 3R EERSBERERLQT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024512831HIEFE

General Information

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on the Main Board of Stock
Exchange. The addresses of its registered office and principal place of
business of the Company were Suite 401, 4th Floor, Lansing House,
41-47 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, All Fame Developments
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI"),
is the ultimate holding company of the Company, and its ultimate
controlling party is Mr. Lau Tom Ko Yuen, who is also the chairman and
non-executive director of the Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company and the principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 29.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of
units of Hong Kong dollars (HK$'000), unless otherwise stated.

Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“‘HKICPA”) and the accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the applicable disclosure requirements of the
Listing Rules.

The significant accounting policies that have been used in
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are
summarised below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented unless otherwise stated. The
adoption of new or amended HKFRS Accounting Standards and
the impacts on the Group’s consolidated financial statements, if
any, are disclosed in note 3.

1.

—RE#
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HMMERRAABIZEEE XM
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR IR AR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024F128331HIEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for the financial assets at FVTPL and
financial assets at FVOCI which are measured at fair values.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions
are used in preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
Although these estimates are based on management’s best
knowledge and judgement of current events and actions,
actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. The
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 4.

Going concern assumption

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group incurred
a net loss of HK$17,295,000 and as at 31 December 2024,
the Group’s net liabilities amounted to HK$10,299,000. The
Group’s total borrowings amounted to HK$10,160,000, out
of which HK$6,160,000, are repayable on demand or due for
repayment within the next twelve months from the end of the
reporting period, while its bank balances and cash amounted to
HK$330,000 at 31 December 2024. These conditions indicate
the existence of material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024512831HIEFE

2. FEFHHBHERE @

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.1 REEE @)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Going concern assumption (Continued)

In view of such circumstances, the directors of the Company
have given careful consideration to the future liquidity and
performance of the Group and its available sources of financing
in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient financial
resources to continue as a going concern. Plans and measures
have been taken to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve
its financial position which include, but are not limited to, the
following:

(i) The Group will continue to seek other alternative financing
to increase the Group’s equity and liquidity when
necessary. Additionally, the Group has been conducting
feasibility study on, and has been negotiating with potential
investors in connection with, fundraising opportunities
through the capital market; and

(i)  The Group will continue to take active measures to control
administrative costs through various channels including
human resources optimisation, management remuneration
adjustments and capital expenditure control. This measure
may reduce cash outflow and improve the cash flow of the
Group.

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s cash
flow projections prepared by management of the Group, which
cover a period of not less than twelve months from 31 December
2024. The directors of the Company are of the opinion that,
taking into account the above-mentioned plans and measures,
the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and to meet its financial obligations as and when
they fall due within the next twelve months from the date of the
consolidated statement of financial position. Accordingly, the
directors of the Company considered that it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024F128331HIEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

When assessing whether the Group has power over the entity,
only substantive rights relating to the entity (held by the Group
and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a subsidiary
in the consolidated financial statements from the date it gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and
losses on transactions between group companies are eliminated
in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Where
unrealised losses on sales of intra-group asset are reversed on
consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment
from the Group's perspective. Amounts reported in the financial
statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary
to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by
the Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, subsidiaries are
carried at cost less any impairment loss unless the subsidiary is
held for sale or included in a disposal group. Cost is adjusted
to reflect changes in consideration arising from contingent
consideration amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable
costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividends received and receivable at the reporting
date. All dividends whether received out of the investee’s pre or
post-acquisition profits are recognised in the Company’s profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024512831HIEFE

2. FEFHHBHERE @

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.3 SME]RE

2.3 Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in HKS,
which is also the functional currency of the Company.

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated entities,
foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of the individual entity using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the reporting date,
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the reporting date retranslation of
monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated (i.e. only translated using the exchange rates
at the transaction date).

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial
statements of foreign operations, originally presented in a
currency different from the Group’s presentation currency, have
been converted into HK$. Assets and liabilities have been
translated into HK$ at the closing rates at the reporting date.
Income and expenses have been converted into the HK$ at the
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates, or at the average
rates over the reporting period provided that the exchange rates
do not fluctuate significantly. Any differences arising from this
procedure have been recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in the translation reserve in equity.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024F128331HIEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.4 Plant and equipments

Plant and equipments are initially recognised at acquisition cost,
including any cost directly attributable to bringing the assets to
the location and condition necessary for them to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by the Group’s management.
They are subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is provided so as to write off the cost of assets less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Motor vehicles 5 years
Office equipment, furniture and fixtures 3 years
Computer equipments 3 years

Estimates of residual value, depreciation methods and useful lives
are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other costs, such as repairs and maintenance, are
charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they
are incurred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024512831HIEFE

2. FEFHHBHERE @

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

25 T H

2.5 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets (other than financial assets
at FVTPL) and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liabilities and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liabilities, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024F128331HIEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Debt investments

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

- the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

A financial asset is classified as held-for-trading if:

- it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or

- on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

- it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVOCI
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.
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2. FEFHHBHERE @

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

25 £fT A @&

2.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVOC/

Investments in equity instruments at FVOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve; and are not
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss
will not be reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal of the equity
investments, and will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are
included in the “revenue” in profit or loss.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

25 T H @

2.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured
at amortised cost or FVOCI or designated as FVOCI are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or loss recognised
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset
and is included in the “other gains and losses, net” in profit or
loss.

Impairment of financial assets

Loss allowance for expected credit losses (‘ECL”) will be
recognised on financial assets which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9 (including other receivables, bank balances and
cash held by securities brokers). The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-months ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 month after the reporting date. Assessment are done
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

For all financial assets, the Group measures the loss allowance
equals to 12-months ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which
case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

- significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

- an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(@)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past
due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(¢)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain/loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)
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2.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include loan from a securities
broker, other payable and accruals, borrowings and convertible
notes.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially measured
at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs
unless the Group designated a financial liability at FVTPL.

Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

All interest-related charges, if applicable, are reported in profit or
loss are included within finance costs.

Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in note 2.7.

Borrowings (including loan from a securities
broker)

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss
over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest rate
method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least twelve months after the reporting date.
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2. FEFHHBHERE @

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)
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2.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Other payable and accruals

Other payable and accruals are recognised initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Convertible notes

Convertible notes which entitle the holder to convert the notes
into a fixed number of ordinary shares at a fixed conversion
price are regarded as compound instruments consist of a
liability and an equity component. At the date of issue, the fair
value of the liability component (including embedded nonequity
derivative features) is estimated by measuring the fair value and
the respective interest rate for similar non-convertible debt. The
fair value of any derivative features embedded in the compound
instruments is included in the reserve component.

The difference between the proceeds of issue of the convertible
notes and the fair values assigned to the liability component,
representing the embedded option for the holder to convert the
notes into equity of the Group represents conversion options and
is included in equity as convertible notes reserve.

The liability component is carried as a liability at amortised
cost using the effective interest method until extinguished on
conversion or redemption. The derivative components are
measured at fair value with gains and losses recognised in profit
or loss while the conversion option included in equity will remain
in reserve until conversion option is exercised, in which case,
the convertible notes reserves will be transferred to accumulated
losses.

Where the conversion option remains unexercised at the maturity
date of the convertible notes, the balance recognised in equity
will be transferred to accumulated losses. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the
conversion option.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)
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2.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Convertible notes (Continued)

If the identifiable consideration received by the Group appears
to be less than the fair value of the convertible notes issued,
the Group measures the unidentifiable consideration received
(to be received) as the difference between the fair value of the
convertible notes issued and that of the identifiable consideration
received, and the difference is recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issuance of the convertible
notes are apportioned between the liability and equity
components of the convertible notes based on their relative
carrying amounts at the date of issue. The portion relating to the
equity component is charged directly to equity, while transaction
costs relating to the liability component are expenses.

Interest on the convertible notes are recorded on a daily basis
before maturity using the agreed interest rate.

Derecognition of financial assets and financial
liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost
and FVTPL, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is
transferred to accumulated losses.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.6

2.7

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand,
demand deposits with banks and securities brokers and short
term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value. For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows presentation, cash and cash equivalents include cash held
by securities brokers and bank balances and cash.

Leases

Definition of a lease and the Group as a
lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group considers whether a
contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract,
or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an identified
asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange
for consideration’. To apply this definition, the Group assesses
whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are
whether:

- the contract contains an identified asset, which is either
explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified by
being identified at the time the asset is made available to
the Group;

- the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from use of the identified asset
throughout the period of use, considering its rights within
the defined scope of the contract; and

- the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified
asset throughout the period of use. The Group assesses
whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for what
purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period of use.

For contracts that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.7 Leases (Continued) 2.7 HE @

Measurement and recognition of leases as
a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-
use asset and a lease liability on the consolidated statement of
financial position. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost,
which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability,
any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any
costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset at the end of
the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease
commencement date (net of any lease incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-
line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of
the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of
the lease term unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership at the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses
the right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if
that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
are made up of fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable payments
based on an index or rate, and amounts expected to be payable
under a residual value guarantee. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain
to be exercised by the Group and payment of penalties for
terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
the option to terminate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced
for lease payments made and increased for interest cost on the
lease liability. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or
lease modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed
payments.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is
reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-
use asset is already reduced to zero.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.7

2.8

2.9

Leases (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as
a lessee (Continued)

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases using the
practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset
and lease liability, the payments in relation to these leases are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 month or less.

On the consolidated statement of financial position, right-of-use
assets have been presented in separate line item.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount
of the obligation can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to
reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events not
wholly within the control of the Group, are also disclosed as
contingent liability unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefit is remote.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. The amount of share
capital recognised is determined using the nominal value and any
related transaction costs are deducted from the share premium.

2.10 Revenue recognition

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ right to receive payment have been established.
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2. FEFHHBHERE @

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.11 BT %6 B

2.11 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and
the Group will comply with all attached conditions. Government
grants are deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the
period necessary to match them with the costs that the grants
are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to income is presented in gross
under “Other income” in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

2.12Impairment of non-financial assets

Plant and equipments, right-of-use assets and the Company’s
investments in subsidiaries are subject to impairment testing.
They are tested for impairment whenever there are indications
that the asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of
fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal,
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of time
value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purpose of assessing impairment, where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely independent from those
from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). As a result, some
assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested
at the cash-generating unit level.

Impairment losses is charged pro rata to the assets in the cash
generating unit, except that the carrying value of an asset will not
be reduced below its individual fair value less cost of disposal, or
value in use, if determinable.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable
change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s
recoverable amount and only to the extent that the asset’s
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if
no impairment loss had been recognised. A reversal of such
impairment is credited to profit or loss in the period in which
it arises unless that asset is carried at revalued amount, in
which case the reversal of impairment loss is accounted for in
accordance with the relevant accounting policy for the revalued
amount.
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2. FEFHHBHERE @

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through defined
contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
for all of its employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ salaries.

Payments to the MPF Scheme are recognised as expense
when employees have rendered services entiting them to the
contributions.

The Group’s obligations under MPF Scheme are limited to the
fixed percentage contributions payable.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave;
maternity leave; and paternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.

Long service payments

Certain of the Group’s employees have completed the required
number of years of service to the Group in order to be eligible for
the entitlement of long service payments under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance (“Employment Ordinance”) in the event
of the termination of their employment under the circumstances
specified in the Employment Ordinance. A provision is recognised
in respect of the probable future long service payments expected
to be made. The provision is based on the best estimate of
the probable future payments which have been earned by the
employees from their service to the Group to the end of the
reporting period.

2.13Employee benefits 213{EEEF
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2. FEFHHBHERE @

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2145 B M

2.14Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

2.15 Accounting for income tax

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the
current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the reporting
date. They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws
applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the
taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or
liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense in profit
or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary
differences at the reporting date between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their
respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other unused
tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit,
including existing taxable temporary differences, will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax
losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from initial recognition (other than in
a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither taxable nor accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period the liability is settled or
the asset realised, provided they are enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.15Accounting for income tax (Continued)

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in
profit or loss, or in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity if they relate to items that are charged or credited to other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in net
if, and only if,

(@)

(b)

the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and

intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
in net if, and only if,

the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities; and

the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either:

(i) the same taxable entity; or

(ii) different taxable entities which intend either to settle
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.16 Related parties

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, a
party is considered to be related to the Group if:

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and if that person,

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

@iy is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or of a parent of the Group.

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group.

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party.

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.16 Related parties (Continued)

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies: (Continued)

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vi) a person identified in (a)() has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity.
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3. Application of New and Amendments to
HKFRS Accounting Standards

3.1 Amendments to HKFRS Accounting

Standards that are mandatorily effective for
the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
HKICPA for the first time, which were mandatorily effective for
the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 January 2024 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

The application of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in the current year has had no material impact on
the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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3. Application of New and Amendments to
HKFRS Accounting Standards (continued)

3.2 New and amendments to HKFRS

Accounting Standards
effective

in issue but not yet

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been

issued but are not yet effective:
Amendments to HKFRS 9

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS

Accounting Standards

Amendments to HKAS 21

HKFRS 18

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments®

Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity®

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture!

Annual Improvements
to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 112
Lack of Exchangeability?

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards mentioned below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all other new and amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

o

]
T A
=

il ank

3.2 EMRMEREREREMTE
HEENRERGSER

FERBHREERMOUTERM
BEAREMNHIREEITER

MEBREEN G AR
EBMBREER SMIANER
FORRERME  HEZET
REERBTHRZ

(5]

ERMBREEL SREBEAER
FORRERME LEBENNGH
REZFETHZ
(=)

ERMBRE RAEHEHBE
EREB105 K REHEERT
EREE] ZENEERE
F285F 2 15T FEE

*%ﬁﬁ&‘?&iﬁﬁl EBMBREER

GEHEZEE] EHEUNEE

HE-F1153

EBGER BRZ AL
VAL PA )

ERBMBREEN MBEERRNEIR
£185% WRE

! REEEAMNZRABZFE

FAR Ao

2 BEZZ_hAF—A—BIUEMR
A2 FEBRBEM -

8 BEZZE_RHE—HA—HBHs &M
A2 FEMBBEN -

4 BEZZ+tFEF—A—BHUER
AT FEEHBER -

R NPt sl S BRI BB
BREEN G ERIN AREE
ERIEAMA M REE
SIEBMBREEN G ERE
AR RRKEEGESHBER
REMEATE-



2024 IR EERBEERAERAR
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024512831HIEFE

3. Application of New and Amendments to 3. #4337 3] KR KB T H &
HKFRS Accounting Standards (continued) IR EENZTZER

()

3.2 New and amendments to HKFRS 3.2 BENEMEXRENE B

Accounting Standards in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements”

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements”,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 “Presentation of
Financial Statements”. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard,
while carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1,
introduces new requirements to present specified categories
and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide
disclosures on management-defined performance measures in
the notes to the financial statements and improve aggregation
and disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the financial
statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been
moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7
“Statement of Cash Flows” and HKAS 33 “Earnings per Share”
are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with
early application permitted. The application of the new standard
is expected to affect the presentation of the statement of profit or
loss and disclosures in the future financial statements. The Group
is in the process of assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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4.

Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 2, the directors of the Company are required to make
various judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value measurement of unlisted equity
investment

At 31 December 2024, the fair value of this investment was amounted
to HK$5,293,000 (2023: HK$5,293,000), which resulted in a fair value
loss of approximately HK$Nil (2023: HK$14,894,000) adjusted to
investment revaluation reserve for the year ended 31 December 2024.
Judgement and estimation are required in establishing the relevant
valuation techniques and the relevant inputs thereof. Changes in
estimations relating to these factors could affect the reported fair value
of the unlisted equity investment.

Income taxes

At 31 December 2024, no deferred tax asset has been recognised in
relation to the tax losses of HK$460,132,000 (2023: HK$445,962,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The realisability of
the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether sufficient future
profits will be available in the future. In cases where the actual future
taxable profits generated are more than expected, or there are changes
in facts and circumstances which result in revisions of future taxable
profits estimation, a material recognition of deferred tax asset may arise,
which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such
recognition takes place.

B 5 g 5t (i 5t R FU KR

REBAERZ &5 BER (HNMEE2)
B ARBEFEBRHRELEM
RERGHZEERBREREAEFLEZIA
B 5t e R 5% o b F (A5t R RR
DERBEERAHEMBEAERZR
FFH - BRERAERILEMGETAR -

AEESRERNILE M RBRR
R HMHGSHESHERIESTR > ARES]
EXBELES] R B % AR
RBEBEIT O MEAREITREEHNR
RERHIE RIS E 85T Z BRI R R 2R
RSN A BT -

MTARBREAR BEIREERT—
MREERZEERBERAEHERES

RBEZEMARZ TEBRRREME
HARRERARZ T ERR-
FLTRARBZAFES
E

R2024F12A31H LEBEREZ A FE
#5,293,0007% 7t (20234 : 5,293,000
BiT)  WEFE E2024F 128318 1k
FERARFEBBHANZTHET (20234F
14,894,000 7T) HAEEKREBMHE -
REIEERGEERT R EMEABRA
ERH BT Rt c ZER KRG 2 &8
REREFLTRAREZERLTF
=

FRiS M

R2024®F 128318 BN & K&
MAEFRAATBH M EMRRE
B5#8460,132,000% 55 (20234
445,962,000/ 70) HRIELERIBEE E ©
LU&IEéf%Z@E ENTEMRBRE

AESRMRKEMN MAEEZ
aﬁ%%?ﬁ%ﬁ%&;ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%a
KIERBEE > UBERKRERR
A BRI BE AR E NIELERIE
BE UWHREHERZHEERR TR

=
e ©
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5. Segment Information

HKFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis
of internal reports about components of the Group that are regularly
reviewed by the CODM, being the only executive director of the
Company, in order to allocate resources and to assess performance.
The CODM reviews the Group’s investment portfolio and profit or
loss as a whole, which is determined in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policies, for performance assessment, up to 9 June 2021.
Accordingly, no operating segment information is presented.

The position of executive director has been vacant from 10 June 2021.
Moreover, due to the nature of the Company’s business, the Board
continues the view that no operating segment information shall be
presented.

Geographic information

The Group’s revenue is generated from, and non-current assets (other
than financial instruments) are located in Hong Kong.

Dividend income from the Group’s investment contributed over 10% of
the Group’s revenue during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 are as follows:

Investee A BZRENEA
Investee B BRI ENEB
Investee C BERENFEC
Investee D ?%ﬁ?“ﬁ&ﬁD
Investee E BRRENT]

5.

THEEN

ERAMBREENESHRERRERE
BLERKE (R ATE—RITES)
EHRE 2 AEERNDZARHRSEE
AR EEDIE UMD ERATERIR
iﬁmg"}aﬁ%ﬁﬁztsﬁgz*ﬂﬁa&ﬁ

MEMEBAREE BREAER 2 5t
Eﬂz%é—ém) LT RIRF MG BEE2021
F6HIR L FHIb ZEBWESTET
D EE R o

H2021E6810H » $IITEE —HNHRAK
ToHRNATZEREL  EETHIFAE
BER AL WEZHLEEDEER -

1 38 & i

FEBZWAREER MEFABEE
FRERIEIN TFUREB-

$22024%F 12831 H &2023FE12831H >
ERERBEWRAI0ONU L2 KEFBLRSE
REUWAWT :

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET

7

6

3
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6. Gross Proceeds from Operations/ 6.
Revenue

The following table shows the gross proceeds from disposal of financial
assets at FVTPL which are revenue in nature for tax purposes and the
revenue of the Group, which represents the dividend income:

HERAFESABTRZ
SRBEEZTSRIBAERE
MRBME BREEE

% B WA

Gross proceeds from disposal of financial
assets at FVTPL which are revenue in
nature for tax purposes

Dividend income

REFRISMIERE I
A
TRERHERATEN ABRZ S0

EEZFEMBRERRBME Alkm
MEUREERZIWA EREWA

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TAET
16,504

30

16,534

Revenue in the Year represents dividend income of HK$6,000 (Year
2023: HK$30,000).

7. Other Losses 7.

Fair value changes of financial assets at BAFEFABRZEMEE
FVTPL NI EEE
— revenue in nature for tax purpose —RBME A REEE
— capital in nature for tax purpose —MIRBMERELAME

AEEWAIER EUWAB,00048 7T (2023
FEE 30,0008 7T) ©

HhgE

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TAT
5,912

5,565

11,477

The fair value changes of financial assets at FVTPL comprised
of net realised losses on disposal of financial assets at FVTPL of
HK$45,102,000 (Year 2023: HK$27,343,000). Theses figures represent
the difference between proceeds on disposal and the original costs of
acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL.

BAFETABGR Z%mﬂ§§@$ﬁ
EHEFEHERATFTESAER
niﬁ%ZE“ﬁ@Eﬁ?ﬁAﬁJ02,000/%71:
(2023FEFE : 27,343,000 7T) © lb%
HERRIPERATEFTABRZESH
EENFERENEBABNREBZE
REPTIER o
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8. Other Income

Insurance claim from car accident
Mandatory Provident Fund

— forfeited contribution of ex-employee
Other

tREMTEERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024512831HIEFEE

9. Finance Costs

Interest on loan from a securities broker
Interest expenses of convertible notes

8. HUg A
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FHEIT
FREEIMREEEE 9

sEElIEATFEREE

—HIEE BRI Z 1
Hih -
10

9. B A
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FAT
FEFESLLZETFE 994
AR EE B 3

997
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10. Income Tax Expense

10.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is made since there was no

assessable profit for both years.

Reconciliation between income tax expense and loss before income tax

at applicable tax rates:

Loss before income tax

FREFSIRATES IR

FRIFM A

HRAEERMEFESEEERRR
A AR E BN SRR

WERMEXFABEZFEMEAZARRS
MABIEZHER -

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TAET

(17,295) (22,401)

Tax at the domestic income tax rate of
16.5% (2023: 16.5%)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for
tax purpose

Tax effect of temporary differences not
recognised

Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses

Utilisation of tax losses not recognised

BAMPTISIINE16.5%

(20234 : 16.5%) stH 2118 (2,854) (3,696)

MR BT EHRRZ
MBEFE
RERERUEERZMBEE

RERZIMBERZMBEE
ERZ RERNN IR

502 1,893

14 (20)

Income tax expense

FiSTRRS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$460,132,000 (31 December 2023: HK$445,962,000) available for
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses
are subject to the agreement from the Hong Kong Inland Revenue
Department and may be carried forward indefinitely.

R2024F12A31H REBZ RKXHHR
T 518460,132,0005% 75 (20234128
318 : 445,962,000 75) B] AR Kk
FEF o AR IHEF R EARAIIBA > M
TEBEREEREEE REGEES
EEMEREERBE BB AFIEE-
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— =a
11. Loss for the Year 11.FEEFE
Loss for the Year had been arrived at after charging (crediting): FEBBEINR GIA) THRIE !
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
TAET THET
(a) Staff costs (including directors’ (a) BEIZ (BIEEEFHH GH
remuneration) (Note)
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TE REMEN 5,150
Discretionary bonus B TEAL 179
Contributions to retirement benefits BRIREF FHEIHR
scheme 140
5,469
(b) Other items (b) HfthIEE
Depreciation, included in administrative THASIEE TZIE .
expenses:
— Owned assets —-BEEE 211
Gain on disposal of plant and equipments HE BB R B U e -
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEM = 680
Note: As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had no forfeited s R2024F 12831 H K&2023F12831
contributions available to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes H AEEMECHSRBIERHEE
in future years. BB ERERRAKEF 8 HMD

R



PROSPERITY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sR e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024F128331HIEFE

12. Directors’ Emoluments 12.EFM=E
Emoluments paid or payable to the Directors were as follows: ENHECNEEZMSOT -
Retirement
benefit
Salaries and Discretionary scheme
Fees allowances bonus contributions Total
BREFIEHE
e FHERERM B IBTEAT R it
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Year TEE
Name of Director EENL
Non-executive Director: FEPITESE .
Mr. Lau Tom Ko Yuen ERELEE
(Chairman) (ER)

Independent Non-Executive 117 FEHITEE -

Directors:
Mr. Feng Nien Shu ML
Mr. Lui Siu Tsuen, Richard ~ @JKR 4
Ms. Wong Lai Kin, Elsa HEREZ+
Mr. Ip Kwok Kwong EELEE
VYear 2023 2023FFE
Name of Director EENHS
Non-executive Director: FEHITESE
Mr. Lau Tom Ko Yuen =R kE
(Chairman) (EE) 1,800 - - - 1,800

Independent Non-Executive 17 JEHITEE -

Directors:
Mr. Feng Nien Shu BB MITE 100 - - - 100
Mr. Lui Siu Tsuen, Richard ~ &JKR e 100 - - - 100
Ms. Wong Lai Kin, Elsa BRERZ T 100 - - - 100
Mr. Ip Kwok Kwong BEEYRE 59 - - - 59

2,159 - - - 2,159
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024512831HIEFEE

12. Directors’ Emoluments (continued)

13

The executive Director’s emolument shown above was for his service
as director and in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The non-executive Director’s and Independent Non-Executive Directors’
emoluments shown above were for their services as directors.

No emolument were paid by the Group to any Directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office during both years.

There was no arrangements under which a director waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration during both years.

Five Highest Paid Individuals’
Emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, one
(2023: one) was a Director of the Company whose emoluments are
included in the disclosures in note 12 above. The emoluments of
remaining four (2023: four) individuals during the year were as follows:

e R HE AR A
BYIBTEAL
RIRBAETEIHR

Salaries and other benefits
Discretionary bonus
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme

12.EEMETw

EXFRZATESHEREMRETE
EREEARDRAEREEZME -

EXFRRZIFRTESERBIIFNTE
EMERBRFRETESTZME-

PREFERN cERTERTANES
SAIME UIEAMBRNMELER
By Z SR S0 (F A BE R A 18 o

BEEREENZWNEFEANREXR
EREEAMNE 2k

B.AAEEHFMALTHS

rERLRESFMA LT —RHAT
BEF (2023F : —%) 'HME&#H N EX
MisE12° F R BAER T4% (20234 © 4
) ANEZBEWT ¢

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TAT
2,351

159

125

2,635

89
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024F128331HIEFE

- - - " m = 2y 1t .
13. Five Highest Paid Individuals’ 1.5 HFMALHSE
Emoluments (continued) (48)
Their emoluments of the four (2023: four) individuals with the highest NEEREZMEREMW45H AL (2023
emoluments for the year were within the following bands: F 1 4%) NFETHEE
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Not exceeding HK$1,000,000 i8i81,000,0007 75 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7t & 1,500,000 7T 1
No emoluments have been paid to the five highest paid individuals as RRMEFE AEBLEO LA RS
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for MALTZAME UIEBMBXN MR
loss of office during both years. REBRFZ RN IESBER 2 FE -
}'L — =2
14. Loss Per Share 14. 5K E18
The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to the owners of the KRB BEBEANEBEERERBEBTLIZMN
Company is based on the following data: TEESFE
2024 2023
Loss attributable to owners of the Company AxAFEA AFELEIE (THT)
(HK$'000) (22,401)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares stTEEREBEZ BETZER
in issue for the purposes of loss per share MEFEE (FR)
(in thousands) 121,132
For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the computation HZE2024F 12831 H K2023F 12431
of diluted loss per share does not assume the conversion of the HEFE SFHEESEREEEERIBRR
Company’s outstanding convertible notes since their assumed exercise EATRHARMNAITMKRERE TR
would result in a decrease in loss per share. O BERREZARERNSKEER

VA
Ao
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15. Plant and Equipments 15.E K% E

Office
equipment,
Motor furniture Computer
vehicles and fixtures equipments Total
MAZERME
RE BRREE B E 4ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THET FHT FHETT
Cost 5%
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 52202318 1H 20234

2023 and 1 January 2024 128318 %2024F1851H 950 21 59 1,030
Additions NE - - 8 8
Disposals HE (350) - - (350)
At 31 December 2024 $2024512831H 600 21 67 688
Accumulated depreciation BitifE
At 1 January 2023 ®2023F181H 159 10 31 200
Charge for the year FENR 189 7 15 211
At 31 December 2023 and #R2023F 12831 &

1 January 2024 202451 81H 348 17 46 411
Charge for the year FEMBR 144 4 14 162
Disposals HE (152) - - (152)
At 31 December 2024 1#2024%12831H 340 21 60 421
Carrying values BRMEE
At 31 December 2024 1220245 12831H 260 - 7 267
At 31 December 2023 72023F12831H 602 4 13 619
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16. Financial Assets at FVOCI/FVTPL

Unlisted equity investment designated at
FVOCI (Note)

Non-current portion

Listed equity investments classified as
financial assets at FVTPL which is capital
in nature for tax purpose

Current portion

Listed equity investments classified as
financial assets at FVTPL which is revenue
in nature for tax purpose

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHET
EEARAFES AEMER
Wz IEEHRARE () 5,293
3!5;7@1%19}
DIEARAFEF ABRZ SR
BEZ FHRAKRE
HpMBEmsAERNEE 822
TRENER(RD
DEABRAFESARBRZZ
SRMEEZ FTHRARS
HptBEmsARaE 9,956

Note: The investment is not held for trading, instead, it is held for long- MIsE -

ZRELAFFEESE  MEREIERE

term strategic purposes. The Directors have elected to designate this
investment in equity investments at FVOCI as they believe that recognising
short-term fluctuations in this investment’s fair value in profit and loss
would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding this
investment for long-term purposes and realising its performance potential

in the long run.

At 31 December 2024, financial assets at FVTPL of HK$Nil (2023:
HK$9,513,000) were pledged to a securities broker for the margin loan
of HK$NIl (2023: HK$2,415,000) granted to the Group (note 19).

BE - BEREEEREZREREZR
ERBEATESFAEMEE N AR
BERR RIEZPEIZREZATF
BEANSRAERERAFTAZKE
WHRFEREHREBEERRZRETE
—Ho

R2024F 128318 A FEF AER
Z2EMBEEZ BT (20234 9,513,000
BT EERYT - LBZ5ECLEUNES—
ERFARERZIFTRERET AT (2023
£ 12,415,000 7T) (MIsE19) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024512831HIEFEE

Other Receivables

Other prepayments and deposits HMFBENRIEREE

17. H R UL AR

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TAET

96 71

71

Cash Held by Securities Brokers/Bank
Balances and Cash

The cash held by securities brokers carry interest at market rates which
range from 0% to 0.25% (2023: 0% to 0.25%) per annum.

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from 0% to
0.02% (2023: 0% to 0.02%) per annum.

Loan from a Securities Broker

At 31 December 2023, the margin loan from a securities broker
was secured by a portfolio of financial assets at FVTPL held under
the margin account, with a total market value of approximately
HK$9,513,000 (2024: HK$NIl). The Group’s margin loan has no
determined maturity date and is subject to interest specified from time
to time by the securities broker. The maximum amount of the margin
loan granted by the securities broker depends on the market value of
the assets pledged with the securities broker. For the year ended 31
December 2024, the dalily interest rate was 12% (2023: 9.252% to
20.000%) calculated on 365 days. The finance costs for the year ended
31 December 2024 is set out in note 9.

18.EFREFHEZREE
IRITHEFRRE

EELLFAEZRSRMBENENTF
0%ZE0.25% (20234 : 0%=0.25%) &t
=

1SN

RTEGRETEENENF0%E0.02%
(20234 : 0%ZE0.02%) 5t &2

19. RBEHFELZEM

R2023F12831H > REHFHF K4 2 FF
BERTHAFERREFETHEZRAYF
Bt A BR 2 SHEEZHEEGERE
M EA 49,513,000 T (20244

THET)  AEBZHRERUEET
EHEH WERE S K LETRIEE 2R
EH B - BHERLEETFZHEERZR
BEEIARNERTESKLZEEZ
HIBEE B E2024FE12H31HILEEE
SEHMEKAE12% (20234F : 9.252%%F
20.000%) M365H 5t & o H E20245F12
B31H IEFEF B AREI M EE9
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e
20. Other Payables and Accruals 0. H fth f& {7 BR 18 1 FE 51 BR
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFHET
Accrued salary fEstEE 255
Accrued professional fee EsTEEEH 3,896
Accrued management fee FEstEIEEA 720
Accrued interest expense fESHAI B -
Others Hih 756
5,627
. £+
21. Borrowings 21.8%
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAET THET
Loan from a director KE—FEHZEM 600
Loan from a director of a subsidiary KE—FRBEHZEMN 1,140
1,740
At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the loan from a director and the loan R2024%F12H31H K2023F128318 >
from a director of a subsidiary were unsecured, interest-free, repayable RE—EEZ2ERRKE— ? NBINE
on demand and with no guarantee provided by the company. HZERLEIRE RF) B AFL R

REEFERE RSB EEAEERE
RIEIE ©
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22. Convertible Notes

On 29 December 2023, the Company issued convertible notes with
an aggregate principal amount of HK$4,000,000 after resolution
was passed by shareholders at the Special General Meeting on 11
December 2023 for such issue.

The convertible notes mature on 29 December 2025, bearing interest
at 8 percent per annum calculated on 360 days per year. On expiry,
the noteholders have an option to convert to shares or redeem the
convertible notes in full or in part.

In the event the convertible notes are fully converted to ordinary shares
of the Company, an additional 24,096,384 ordinary shares in the
Company will be issued to the noteholders, representing 16.59% of
the enlarged issued share capital of the Company, together with an
additional interest of HK$320,000 payable to the noteholders.

On 30 April 2024, the Company issued convertible notes with an
aggregate principal amount of HK$4,000,000.

The convertible notes mature on 30 April 2026, bearing interest at 8
percent per annum calculated on 360 days per year. On expiry, the
noteholders have an option to convert to shares or redeem the notes in
full or in part.

In the event the notes are fully converted to ordinary shares of the
Company, an additional 24,096,386 ordinary shares in the Company
will be issued to the noteholders, representing 16.59% of the enlarged
issued share capital of the Company, together with an additional
interest of HK$320,000 payable to the noteholders. At 31 December
2024 and as of the date of this report, the convertible option is not
approved by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited yet.

22 AT AR E1E

FR2023F12H29H » "R R BT AR E4E
2874,000,0008 T2 A R EE » KA
ﬂﬁ’;‘%EﬁAzozsfcﬁmﬁ 11 ZHRIRKRE
AEBIEBRBRZFENLEIT

AR R 2025F 125290 FIHR > #)
EAESFUNTHABESEICORABETE
FEH MR EERFEAUEESH
R IR BB A o

EOUBRKBRERE2EIRER  AAEHEE
724,096,384 ER IR0 4 F 0l 2 B8
ZEFEACHEHERERRABDREDN
16.59% > MEEIZ N T BRKREEE
A320,0008 TH & o

1£2024F4B30H » KAB) T A 4EEE
#4,000,0008 T 2 AR E 4 o

AR EE 202648308 28R &
ME8% » FEIB0KTE o ZIHIFF > A] 2
CERFAANEEE A HERE
B& 17 o BB D] 22 4% o

EEBR2MEBERALZILATEBRR X
NEHEATREERISTE ABINETT
24,096,386 Z @K AR BIEK
BEETRAN16.59% I EBIN 2
320,000 7t B c 122024F12H31H
EAREH ZBKREREHRESS
BHERZMBRABME.
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= L
23. Share Capital 23. g 7s
Number of
shares Value
RSB £%E
HK$’'000
FET
Authorised: ERE -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each at 120221 B 1H K2022F12831H
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 BR0.025B Tz @R 4,000,000,000 100,000
Share Consolidation (Note) P EH G (1,090,188,200) —
Ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each after the BRR0.25B T EER (RIDEH
Share Consolidation and HK$0.025 of %) K S RR0.0257 T 2 R 31T
unissued shares EiE 2,909,811,820 100,000
Share Subdivision (unissued shares) (Note) B9 ¥ CkE17) (35 97,090,188,180 —
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each at 72023128310 &
31 December 2023 and 2024 2024F12H31H
FRO.01BITZEERK 100,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BRTRERE
At 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022  722022F181H &
202212H31H 1,211,320,200 30,283
Share Consolidation (Note) & as GH (1,090,188,180) —
Ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each after BRO.25B T EBR
the Share Consolidation (B1pEaHE) 121,132,020 30,283
Capital Reduction (Note) B& A HIR GE) — (30,162)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each at 72023F12831H &
31 December 2023 and 2024 2024F12H31H
FRO.01BITZ EBR 121,132,020 121
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23. Share Capital (continued)

24

Note:

Pursuant to a special resolution for the capital reorganisation of the Company
passed in the special general meeting on 11 December 2023, the Company
undertook a capital reorganisation which comprised:

(@)

the consolidation of every ten issued existing Shares in the authorised
share capital of the Company of HK$0.025 each into one consolidated
share of HK$0.25 (the “Share Consolidation”).

the reduction of the issued share capital of the Company by cancellation
of the paid up capital of the Company to the extent of HK$0.249 on each
of the issued consolidated share such that the par value of each issued
consolidated share was reduced from HK$0.25 to HK$0.001 (the “Capital
Reduction”).

the subdivision of every unissued share of HK$0.025 in the authorised
share capital of the Company into twenty-five adjusted shares of
HK$0.001 each (the “Share Subdivision”).

Upon the effective of the capital reorganisation on 13 December 2023,
the reduced share capital of approximately HK$30,162,000 has been
transferred to the contributed surplus account of the Company.

Net (Liabilities) Asset Value Per Share

Net Liabilities Value per share is computed based on the net liabilities
value of HK$10,299,000 (31 December 2023: net asset value of
HK$6,996,000) and 121,132,020 shares (31 December 2023:
121,132,020) issued and fully paid.

23. g 7 @)

2

BB R2023FE12B11BZREHFH RS £
FriE@—EAMARABRABHEZ T AR

2> KABBE

(@)

T-ERAER B

BEAABELAERATEST+REREE
0.025 BT ZBETRRETRAR
HEHAIREE.2SB T2 A HRMD
(TR 1D & BF1) ©

BRFAHEANDBERE (USKRE S
TEHRD0.249BTAR) 2 AR
SREETEHRMDZEBABO2SETT
BB ZE0.001B 7t MEHBRAATE
BT A (TRRASEIREL) ©

RARBEERATEE.025EITZ
BRARETEHRODOFA TR
SRAEE0.001B T 2 ERHERG (TR
By e

e AR E AR 2023F 128138 £ 1% > H
B2 B A #930,162,0008 7T E 5T AR R
BZzEHERER-

24

Bk (BR) EERE

RaEFENRREERAZAERE

10,299,000;%75 (2023%F128310 ' &
EFE 6,996,000 7T) REEHTKDE
ME121,132,0208% (2023F 12831

H

1121,132,0208%) BBt E o
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25. Particulars of Investments Held by the

Particulars of investments held by the Group at 31 December 2024
disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are as follows:

Name

Y

Listed equity securities

LhkEES

Link Real Estate Investment
Trust (00823.HK)

EREHEREGRES
(00823.HK)

China Construction Bank
Corporation (00939.HK)

FRERFTROBRAT
(00939.HK)

*Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited
(00388.HK)

BARGREEMBRATR
(00388.HK)

Alibaba Group Holding Limited

(09988.HK)
ECEERERERAR
(09988.HK)

CK Infrastructure Holdings
Limited (01038.HK)

RIEREEERAR
(01038.HK)

Proportion
of investee’s
Place of capital
Incorporation owned
FrER#ER
REBEZ
AR BHA)
Hong Kong 0.000004%
&H
PRC 0.0000004%
T
Hong Kong 0.000008%
&H
PRC 0.000005%
T
Bermuda 0.00002%
BRE

Fair values of
listed/unlisted
Cost equity securities

i %

RAESZ

R ATHE

HK$ million HK$ million
BEAT BEET
0.005 0.003

0.01 0.01

0.03 0.03

0.01 0.01

0.02 0.03

25. " EBITFHEZREFS

REENR2024F12B31BF B ZREF

BRELHRAE

Dividend
income Net assets
during attributable to
the year the investment

FRZRE REEBEMS
9N BEFE

HK$ million HK$ milion
BEET BEET
0.001 0.007
0.0004 0.015
0.0008 0.0043
0.0006 0.006
0.001 0.03

CIEWEEIT ¢

Principal activities/places of
operation

TEEE /R

Engaged in property development and
investment/Hong Kong, the PRC,
United Kingdom, Australia

REMERBENRE/EH
i 2B

Banking and financial services/Global
operation

RITMERMRE,/ 2IEE

Provision of market for stock and
commaodity trading and exercise
continuing evaluation of listed
companies

REEMPERZRETHNEE
FHRE

Engaged in two core businesses:
e-commerce and cloud computing

REMAROES : BHNEFHE

Generate electricity in UK.,
Australia, New Zealand, Canada,
Netherlands, Hong Kong and
China

WEFERE RN FAEF NEX
HEEERTEREER



25. Particulars of Investments Held by the
Group (Continued)

Name

AIA Group Limited
(01299.HK)

ERRBRERERAS
(01299.HK)

HK & China Gas Co Ltd
(00003.HK)

ERERERRARAT
(00008.HK)

HSBC Holdings plc
(00005.HK)

ESERERAT
(00005.HK)

Power Assets Holdings Ltd.
(00006.HK)

BEEXARLA
(00006.HK)

Proportion

of investee’s

Place of capital

Incorporation owned

FRERER

REREZ

MMt EARLA

Hong Kong 0.000002%
B

Hong Kong 0.000005%
B

England 0.0000004%
HE

Hong Kong 0.00002%
&

2024 F 3R
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statemen:ts
FEMERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;E2024512831HILEE

Dividend
Fair values of income
listed/unlisted during
Cost equity securities the year

L /3L
RAESZ  ERZRE
R ATE KA
HKS million HK$ million  HK$ million
BEET BEBT BEBT
0.01 0.01 -
0.01 0.01 -
0.004 0.01 -
0.03 0.03 -

Net assets
attributable to
the investment
BREEREN
BERE

HKS million
BEAT

0.006

0.004

0.0007

0.02

RERBERERAA

25. KR EBIFEZKREHF®

Principal activities/places of
operation

TEREHEM

Insurance

Rb

Production, transmission and sale
of gas; supply of gas appliances;
development of renewable energy
projects, etc./Hong Kong, China;
Mainland China

BREE BARHEE  MARAMR

& BERRERMES
&A/TE

Banking and financial services/Global
operation
BORERRE/2HEE

Investment in and operation of energy
infrastructure/Hong Kong, UK,
Australia, New Zealand, Mainland
China, etc.

ERERERREREE /BB &
B RN A PEE
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25. Particulars of Investments Held by the
Group (Continued)

25. R EBIFEZKREHFHF®

Principal activities/places of
operation

TEEH TEMS

Operates an e-commerce platform for
lifestyle services, mainly including
food delivery, in-store, hotel &
travel, and bike-sharing/Mainland
China

RELIRBERTE TEEEER
BRONE  BIIE B RARIT MR 3t
FEE/HE

Self-operated e-commerce business,
logistics services, technology
services, etc./Primarily in Mainland
China

EEHER VIRARES  BATARES
£/$§r$l

Investments in a subsidiary principally
engaged in zinc and lead mining/
the PRC

RERIZUEHRUERNNE
RE]/H

Proportion Dividend
of investee’s Fair values of income Net assets
Place of capital listed/unlisted during attributable to
Name Incorporation owned Cost equity securities the year the investment
FrERER L /LT
REBRZ RAESZz ERZRE REEBER
Eap LA 323t B BALLA [RiE ATE KA BERE
HKS million HK$ million  HK$ million HKS million
BEET BEBT BEBT BEHBT
Meituan (3690.HK) Cayman 0.0000004% 0.001 0.003 - 0.0007
Islands
Z[E(3690.HK) HEHS
JD.com, Inc. (9618.HK) Cayman 0.0000006% 0.002 0.003 - 0.002
Islands
RREEARAR HEHE
(9618.HK)
Unlisted equity securities
JE bR AES
** Wealth Spread Investment ~ Hong Kong 14.70% 54.05 5.29 - N/A
Limited
"REREERAS B
* Significant Investments held as at 31 December 2024

e The shares of Wealth Spread Investment Limited were obtained due to a

corporate restructure of Rakarta Limited

* R2024F12B31BKEZEARKE
> EEEREERATMNEMHE2ARN
Rakarta Limited’2 5 X 4B Fir 1& 18
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25. Particulars of Investments Held by the

Group (Continued)

Particulars of investments held by the Group at 31 December 2023
disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are as follows:

Name

kY

Listed equity securities

IhkEES

*ITC Properties Group Limited
(00199.HK)

EEHEERFRAR
(00199.HK)

Blue River Holdings Limited
(formerly known as PYI
Corporation Limited)
(00498.HK)
ENERERAT (iR
REEEFRAT)
(00498.HK)

Link Real Estate Investment
Trust (00823.HK)

ERRHEREGERES
(00823.HK)

China Construction Bank
Corporation (00939.HK)

FEERBITRHERAT
(00939.HK)

*

Place of
Incorporation

AR 2

Bermuda

BRE

Bermuda

BRE

Hong Kong

Proportion

of investee’s

capital
owned
FRERER
RERREZ
B

1.61%

0.26%

0.00012%

0.000006%

Fair values of

listed/unlisted

Cost equity securities
L/

RAESZ

RfE ATE
HK$ million HK$ million
BEAT BEAT
45.77 9.51
219 0.82
017 0.13
0.12 0.07

Significant Investments held as at 31 December 2023

25. KR EBIFEZKREHF®

AEERFRAFEZREFBEREL

MRAFENERBEWT !
Dividend
income Net assets
during attributable to Principal activities/places of
the year the investment operation
FRZRE REEBREMS
KA BESE TEER/QEHY
HK$ million HK$ milion
BEBL BEBL
- 54.77 Property development and investment,
hotel and leisure operations,
securities trading and loan
financing services/Hong Kong,
Macau, Canada, United Kingdom
and the PRC
MEBRREE BERHRES
EE BS5EERERNHE
R/ EEVRF MEA
HE R P
- 3.27 Infrastructure investment and the
operation of bulk cargo ports and
logistics facilities/PRC
EEREURARHEERORNDA
RHEE /e
0.003 0.21 Engaged in property development and
investment/Hong Kong, the PRC,
United Kingdom, Australia
RENEBRILE/BH
FE
0.006 0.21 Banking and financial services/Global

operation

RITMERMRS,/ 2HEE

* R2023F12H31HFEBEZEAKRE
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25. - EBFAZREFFE®

25. Particulars of Investments Held by the
Group (Continued)

Proportion Dividend
of investee’s Fair values of income Net assets
Place of capital listed/unlisted during attributable to Principal activities/places of
Name Incorporation owned Cost equity securities the year the investment operation
FREE %R L /3FET
REBEZ BAESz FRZERE KREEEERG
Eap BRI BALLA [RiE ATE KA BERE TTER /CEmY
HKS million HK$ million  HK$ million HKS million
BEET BEAT BEAT BEAT
Baidu, Inc (09888.HK) Cayman 0.00002% 0.05 0.06 - 0.04 Internet content services, value-added
Islands telecommunication-based services,
internet map services, online audio
and video services and mobile
application distribution businesses
in the PRC
BEEERBERAT HeHE RN EHANSRS B ESER
(09888.HK) B BBEMERE S ERA
RBEUAREEREDEES
Hong Kong Exchanges and Hong Kong 0.0000158% 0.05 0.05 - 0.008 Provision of market for stock and
Clearing Limited commaodity trading and exercise
(00388.HK) continuing evaluation of listed
companies
BRRGREEMBERRT &8 REEMPERZRETHNEE
(00388.HK) FHRE
Alibaba Group Holding Limited  PRC 0.000003% 0.49 0.38 - 0.028 Engaged in two core businesses:
(09988.HK) e-commerce and cloud computing
FMECEERZERERAT  +E REMAGZLES  BENZHE
(09988.HK)
CK Infrastructure Holdings Bermuda 0.00004% 0.047 0.043 - 0.049 Generate electricity in U.K., Australia,
Limited (01038.HK) New Zealand, Canada,
Netherlands, Hong Kong and
China
RIEEEEBRRA BRE WETEE RN FFEE - MEA
(01038.HK) HE EERTEEEER
AIA Group Limited Hong Kong 0.00004% 0.05 0.04 - 0.049 Insurance
(01299.HK)
RIBRBERERAR N IR
(01299.HK)
Unlisted equity securities
JELHREES
** Wealth Spread Investment  Hong Kong 14.70% 54.05 5.29 - (2.863) Investments in a subsidiary principally
Limited engaged in zinc and lead mining/
the PRC
“REREERAS B RENTEREHREHRNNE
A/
* Significant Investments held as at 31 December 2023 * 120285 12H831EH/B ZBARE
= The shares of Wealth Spread Investment Limited were obtained due to a o FEEAERADHEMHEAR

corporate restructure of Rakarta Limited

Rakarta Limited’2 5 2R 4B Fir 1& 18
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25. 5 EBFAZREFFE®

25. Particulars of Investments Held by the
Group (Continued)
An analysis of realised and unrealised losses is as follows: BERNAEREEZOMOT

Cumulative

Realised losses

for equity unrealised losses for
investments  equity investments
disposed held by the Group as
during the year at the reporting date
RIS QA EEE
FRAHEZRET BZRIRENRER
KRENBEIRGE RERETIR
HK$'000 HK$’000
FH7T FHT
(Note (ii)) (Note (jii))
(Bt = i)) (P = (i)
31 December 2024 20245128318
Hong Kong listed equity investments EELHRALSE (45,102) ()
Unlisted equity investment JEEmRAKRE - (48,753)
31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H
Hong Kong listed equity investments EELMREKRE (27,343) (36,356)
Unlisted equity investment FELHRAKE — (48,753)
(27,343) (85,109)

Notes:

(i)

For listed equity investments, net assets attributable to the investment are
based on latest published financial information of the relevant investment.
For unlisted equity investment, net assets attributable to investments are
based on latest financial statements or management accounts of the
investment.

Realised losses during the year represent the difference between the
proceeds on disposal and the initial acquisition cost of the respective
investment in financial assets. Among the realised loss of HK$45,102,000
(Year 2023: HK$27,343,000), HK$43,242,000 (Year 2023: HK$4,688,000)
and HK$1,860,000 (Year 2023: HK$22,655,000) represented the realised
loss on the disposal of financial assets at FVTPL which are revenue and
capital in nature respectively for tax purposes.

Unrealised losses represent the difference between fair value and cost of
the respective investment in financial assets.

MisE

(i)

METREAREMS  KREBEREE
EFEDUEMREEBRE &M
MBENBKE - IFLTRAKREM
SOREHERGEEFEDNUREE
BB HRRAEERBKE-

ERNDEREEELEERSRE
ERBEZREBRBEBREYNKBEEER
A2 EFE-NRBEIFRRFIE4L5,102,000
Bt (2023FEFE 27,343,000
70) 15 43,242,000 7T (2023F F
£ : 4,688,0007&7T) & 1,860,000 7T
(2023FFE : 22,655,000 75) 5 H
ERAFEFABEZESHEEZE
BIBEIE ERREM= 285 WE K
BAME

REREREAMENEEREZA
FERREZESR-
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26. Related Party/Connected Transactions 26.f8&E 75 FAERX

Except for the loan advanced from a director as disclosed in note PRANC M SF2IFTIR BN RBE—ESE 2 E
21, the Group entered into the following related party/connected AN MEFEE RN > A EE T 7 LT R E
transactions during both years. B BB
2024 2023
Name Relationship Nature of transaction HK$’000 HK$'000
ey & RH4EE FHET FAT
Opus Capital Investment manager of Investment management
the Company fees expense 560
BIZEAR RABZREKIE RESEERS
The remuneration of Directors and other members of key management FRO ESRAEETEZEEEEHMA
personnel of the Group during the year was as follows: BT
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
TF#ET TFHET
Directors’ remuneration EEiE 2,159
Short-term employee benefits HR EEEH 2,100
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIRET EHEMERR 91
4,350
The emoluments of key management (excluding Directors) were within TEEEREB FEREES) ZMENF T
the following bands: H)EEE -
2024 2023
No. of No. of
employee employee
BEE A BEA#
Not exceeding HK$ 1,000,000 Ai8i81,000,0007 75 2

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 75 £ 1,500,000/ 7T
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27. Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from 27.
Financing Activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from
financing activities,
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows

including both cash and non-cash changes.

MEIZHEEER

A

RZH

TRALAEEREIDELEARZE
9 8ERERFREEH -METHAAR
ELfBERBARNEAERGSRERN

were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated EXNDEAREBEEZIMESRESAEZR
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities. EMBHURKRIRERE
Loan from
Convertible  a securities
notes broker  Borrowings Total
AR KBEF
B KEZzE™ i st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TERT TExT FET
At 31 December 2023 1220235128311 8,155
Cash flows Beng
— Proceed from convertible notes — REITRKEE 4,000
— Repayment of loan from a — BRRAFESFLL
securities broker ZE™ (2,415) (2,415)
— Interest expense paid — BENERFEHZ (162) = (706)

— Proceed from loan from a director
— Repayment to loan from a director
— Proceed from loan from a director

—RE-EFZEM
—BERATESZEM
—RE-FAREFZ

- 1,000
- (600)

1,000
(600)

of a subsidiary company EEN 1,611 1,611
— Repayment to loan from a drector ofa =~ — BE-—FATEEZ
subsidiary company EEN (1,591) (1,591)
Non-cash: FRE !
— Interest expenses —-FERX 706
At 31 December 2024 12024F12831H 2,160
At 31 December 2022 12022128311 - 10,505 1,410 11,915
Cash flows BenE
— Proceed from convertible notes — REIHKREE 4,000 - - 4,000
— Repayment to loan from a — BERBESFLL
securities broker ZEX - (8,090) - (8,090)
— Interest expense paid — BENEZHNERS ) (994) - (997)
— Proceed from loan from a director — RE-EZENER - - 200 200
— Repayment to loan from a director —BE-EFEZER - - (610) 610)
— Repayment to loan from a third party —BE-FE=HZEW - - (400) (400)
— Proceeds from loan from a director —RE—FREAES
of a subsidiary company NE - - 1,140 1,140
Non-cash: FRE
— Interest expenses —FB% 3 994 - 997
At 31 December 2023 1220235%12831H 4,000 2,415 1,740 8,155
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28. Statement of Financial Position of the 28. K AT Z AT AR AT

Company

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
TAET FET

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERERE

Non-current assets EREEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBABIZEKE 1
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEW—REM B A B FIE 23,683
23,684

Current assets RHMEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUWLHS B A B FUIE 37,845
Other receivables Hih U iR 64
Bank balances and cash RITHEGRRIRE 3,908
41,817
Current liabilities REEE

Amounts due to subsidiaries FE{SHS B A B FUE 15,613
Other payables and accruals HihfE(TERIE R FESTER 4,558
20,071
Net current assets MEEEFE 21,746

Non-current liability EREEE
Convertible notes EiaES 4,000
Net assets BEEFE 41,430

Capital and reserves B KA
Share capital [ 121
Reserves (Note (i) B (5T ) 41,309

41,430
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28. Statement of Financial Position of the

Company (continued)

28. KRB Z A BIKAR @

Note (i): B 5 (i) -
Share Contributed  Accumulated
premium surplus losses Total
fAD i 1E BRRER RitEs1E “act
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET FHT FHET
At 31 December 2022 R2022512831H 192,895 123,754 (805,377) 11,272
Loss for the year FEEIE — — (125) (129)
Capital Reduction (Note) BARHIR () 30,162 — 30,162
At 31 December 2023 72023%12H31H 192,895 153,916 (805,502) 41,309
Profit for the year FEWHR — — 153 153
At 31 December 2024 $$2024%12831H 192,895 153,916 (305,349) 41,462
Contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference KRBz BHBRHFIESIRAIEREZ2001

between the nominal value of the Shares issued by the Company for
the acquisition of GR Investment Holdings Limited (“GRIH") and the
consolidated net assets value of GRIH at the time it was acquired by
the Company pursuant to a group reorganisation in 2001.

Under the Companies Act (1981) of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus is distributable to the Shareholders, provided that
the Company is, after the payment of dividends out of the contributed
surplus, able to pay its liabilities as they become due; or the realisable
value of the Company’s assets would thereby not be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities, issued share capital and reserves.

The Company has no reserves available for distribution to Shareholders
at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: HK$NIl).

Note: Capital re-organisation effective on 13 December 2023.

FERBARTADBRBERFEAQTER
ﬁ%%;‘FPJFﬁﬁ?’*ﬁZHyfﬁﬁﬁE—i%ﬁEU
ZIRABEEREZER-

RIFERE (19816F) AFE B&E3]) »
BRBHROUDKTRE HEEHRER
TRARE®R AABBEENEREEE
HH:% &, AARBDEEZAJHIREER
BSRIEMERESE BETRA KRR
ﬁzwﬁuo

R2024F 128310 KRB B E A B1E
DEFIREZHE (20235128318

THEIT) ©

. 2023F 128 13HEE MR AEA -
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29. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of 29. A AT X EMBAT Z

the Company =+ 15
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 7R2024F12831H &2023%F12H31H
2024 and 2023 are as follows: KRB EEMBABIZFHBUWT -
Place of Issued and fully paid share Attributable Principal activity/
Name of subsidiary incorporation capital/paid-in capital equity interest Place of operation
BB ITRA R,
MEBAR AR AR Bk 3L 3th 2 BRRAR FE(LRE A e 25 TEEY S
2024 2023
Directly held by the Company:
MAAREREER .
Accufocus Investments Limited The BVI 100 shares of USD1 each 100% Investment holding/
The BVI
RBEUHE 100l B REBEIZETZ RN ®kEER/
HBELEHE
Carson Capital Resources Limited  Hong Kong 1 ordinary share 100% Investment holding/
Hong Kong
BIEEXERAT N6 1R EER KREER /&5

Indirectly held by the Company:

MAAFHERER
GR Investment Holdings Limited Hong Kong 899,900,000 ordinary shares 100% Investment holding/
Hong Kong
SREIEBRAT B 899,900,000 i 1 REER /BB
Genius Choice Investments Limited  The BVI 1 share of USD1 each 100% Investment holding/
The BVI
RBEZES 1REREEIETZRA gEER/
RBEEZES
Easy Ace Investments Limited The BVI 1 share of USD1 each 100% Investment holding/
The BVI
HERUHE 1REREEIETZRA gEER/
RBEYES
Ever Honest Investments Limited The BVI 1 share of USD1 each 100% Investment holding/
Hong Kong
HBREUHE 1REREEIETZRR KEER/ &5
Prosperity Management Services Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares 100% Provision of corporate
Limited management
services within the
Group/Hong Kong
REBERBERLE NG MR EER RAEBEAREHEE
EEERY /B
Rich Concept Investments Limited ~ The BVI 1 share of USD1 each 100% Investment holding/
Hong Kong
REERES 1REREEIETZRR KREER /&5
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29. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of

30

the Company (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

At the end of both report periods, the Company has other subsidiaries
that are not material to the Group. The majority of the subsidiaries are
intermediate holding companies or inactive during both years.

Subsidiaries of the Company are operating in Hong Kong.

Financial Risk Management and Fair
Value Measurements

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity investments,
other receivables, cash held by securities brokers, bank balances and
cash, loan from a securities broker, borrowings, other payables and
accruals and convertible notes. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk
and other price risk), liquidity risk and credit risk. The policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

2.FRFEEMBATZ
=18 @)

IREBINEEIRTETERERER
REEZALNBNBAR - EFRAIE
HEMNBRAB ZFEEERERER
e

RmERESHAR RABHEAR HMEH K
%%ﬁéiTEEZWEQT RED

MEAB RPN ERATDXNNEMEEE
Hlegzxo

KRB ZMBABEEEE

30
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FAEBZIZEMIABGERALE
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30. Financial Risk Management and Fair
Value Measurements (continued)

30.1Categories of financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position relate to the following categories of financial

assets and financial liabilities:

Financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost
— Other receivables
— Cash held by securities brokers
— Bank balances and cash

TRMEE
REERASH B EMEE
—H AR ERIE
—RFEEFAEZRE
—IRITHERRIRE

Financial assets at FVTPL

BAFEFARERD Z":Elﬂﬁl%

Financial assets at FVOCI BATES AREMEE G
THEE

Financial liabilities THAaE

Financial liabilities at amortised cost BBERASEZ EMEE
— Loan from a securities broker —RBEFEFLLZER
— Other payables and accruals —H (S IR IE K FE 5T BR 1B
— Borrowings —B®
— Convertible notes — AR E

#?“ﬂ T EEBRATFE

= ®

N1TRMEEREBRER

FEMBRRKRMIZEREESR
THEMEERTRARENA
2

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTET TET

71
14
4,003

4,088

10,778

5,293

16,071

2,415
5,627
1,740
4,000

13,782
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30. Financial Risk Management and Fair
Value Measurements (continued)

30.2 Market risk

(i)

(ii)

Currency risk

Certain assets are denominated in USD and RMB which
are foreign currencies of the relevant group entities. No
sensitivity analysis is presented due to the Directors believe
the foreign exchange exposure is insignificant.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arises.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank balances, cash held by
securities brokers and loan from a securities broker. The
Directors consider the Group’s exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk is not significant as interest-bearing bank
balances and cash held by securities brokers and loan
from a securities broker are within short maturity periods.

The Group’s exposure to fair value interest rate risk arises
from convertible notes. The Group currently does not use
any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to fair value
interest rate risk. However, the management will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need
arise.

0.51 % 1%

EBRATE

5T E @)

30.27 153 A b&

(i)

(ii)

SRR
EFEEDUETRARK
HE METRARKES
HEEER NG -EED
%5 51 B LT 4 AL UL 3 R
L5 HGHRE D

Zﬁﬁgiﬁﬁiﬁﬁl\ﬁ%%ﬁqﬂﬂl

%Ogﬁﬁ'ﬁ BB EEINE
BoUREREREEY

ﬁ%k?l\”ﬁ%‘ﬂﬁm

2= @ b

REBAZHRTEAEXIR
THEE - EFEERFEZR
ThREEFLELZERZ
HEeEREMNERAK EHA
7o AR ETRIRTTHEER B
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30. Financial Risk Management and Fair 0.MBRKREERATE
Value Measurements (continued) iTE @
30.2 Market risk (Continued) 30.2m 15 B bE @)

(iii) Other price risk (iii) HEE R R

Other price risk relates to the risk that the fair values or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices (other than changes
in interest rates and foreign exchange rates). The Group
is exposed to change in market prices in respect of its
investments in listed equity classified as financial assets at
FVTPL and unlisted financial assets classified at FVOCI as
disclosed in note 16 and note 25 respectively. To manage
its market price risk arising from these investments, the
Group diversifies its portfolio.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based
on the exposure to equity price risks at the reporting date.

If the prices of the respective financial assets at FVTPL
had been 10% (2023: 10%) higher/lower, pre-tax loss for
the year would decrease/increase by HK$13,200 (2023:
HK$1,078,000) for the Group as a result of the changes in
fair value of financial assets at FVTPL.

Sensitivity analysis of financial asset at FVOCI is disclosed
in note 30.5.

HthEREBRBREMIA
ZRFEIRRETRER
mEEZE FXRIIEERE
ERRSM) MIRE Z B R - A5
ERERKFEERRATE
SPARHmZEMEEZ LT
B AR AR % R MR 4R A T A
STARMEEW@ZIFET
THEEZREMAZHE
gEE kR (955 EE 165 Y
FI2AFTINER) - BREBEEZER
EELEZHERR ~&H
DHHEKERS -

BRE D
TXHREDHTIRBEINR
THRRZZRAEERER
BE-

WEREATESFAER

SHMEEZEBR LA TH
10% (20234 : 10%) » &£
Bz FEERRATEERRLD
/18 1N13,20038 75 (20234 :
1,078,000/ 7T) » JhHRN
’AJ?{EDJrMa S BB E

NFEHIREEAR -

BAFEFAHEMEERKRE
ZEMEBEZHRES AR
Bt 5E30.50 1 52 o
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30. Financial Risk Management and Fair 0.MBERBREERATE

=
Value Measurements (continued) 5T E @
30.3 Liquidity risk 30.3MENE £ S
Liquidity risk refers to the risk in which the Group will not be able mBETRBIEAEERREIET
to meet its obligations with its financial liabilities. The Group is HemaEEzB R AEER
exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of other payable EEHMENMIKRBEREFRER
and accruals and its financing obligations, and also in respect of HRMERBTRERAERESREEE
its cash flow management. MASREE & E M-
The following table shows the Group’s remaining contractual TRETAERETREBEZHRT
maturity for its financial liabilittes which are included in the = u’] B ERSALEERSEE
maturity analysis provided internally to the key management REmEANTEFTEZEEEAER
personnel for the purpose of managing liquidity risk. ﬁ‘—fZ?U HA 2 #) ©
More than
one year
Weighted Within one but less Total
average year or thantwo  contractual Carrying
interestrate  on demand years cash flows amount

o —ERH ich g3 GHRE
FIRIR BREX  EFREmE mERE FRE(E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT TR TER

As at 31 December 2024  *20245F12H31H

Other payables and accruals ~ EfhE{TERIE R FE 5T ERIE ; 6,261
Borrowings EX ) 2,160
Convertible notes PR ERE | ! 9,300

13,071 4,650 17,721 16,421

As at 31 December 2023 12023F12831H

Loan from a securities broker R B EH L4 2 B 12% 2,705 - 2,705 2,415
Other payables and accruals ~ ELAFE(TERIE R FE5HERIE - 5,627 - 5,627 5,627
Borrowings B2 - 1,740 - 1,740 1,740
Convertible notes MRER 8% - 4,650 4,650 4,000

10,072 4,650 14,722 13,782
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30. Financial Risk Management and Fair 0. FERABEERAFHE
Value Measurements (continued) TEw

30.4 Credit risk 30.41Z & A k%

The Group’s exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation
by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk on recognised
financial assets is limited to their carrying amounts as disclosed in
note 30.1.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management has delegated
a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
each individual debtor. In this regard, the Directors consider that
the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group
uses past and forward-looking information to assess whether
credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition.
The management would make periodic collective and individual
assessment on the recoverability based on historical settlement
records and past experience. The financial assets of the
Group which are subject to ECL assessment comprises other
receivables, cash held by securities brokers and bank balances
and cash. The management of the Group reviewed and assessed
the impairment for each financial asset individually under the
12 months ECL model. There is no significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition and the risk of default is low and
the counterparties have the capacity to meet their contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term. No loss allowance was
recognised as the amount was immaterial.

FAERRSFHARERTEEM
PHREERBMBERABREZ
FERE RHRNGEMHRRE
PR ZHEEEEREMEEZRR
EEFE-

FEBRERIEMEEBKIE
zReFEERR UZRFEMEE
PEMIEES0 PRI EE Z IREE AR ©

#HBERABREERR EEEEZ
REEEEK B EEEEERE
EMEEREMERER  BREER
EURE T B W EIBHET - L5 -
rEEEARAGEEREEXR
RTI%‘HT?“AL“?JWE%WEOEMt

CEERR AEBRZEER
FﬁiEﬁﬂlm/}Eﬁﬂ\o

AABEERBREEMS  ~&H
ﬁ%tﬁ&m%&ﬁﬂ’uﬁﬁ%
ERBESBEVBHERERS L
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BERER G - AEBZBEREE
BRIGZEREECEEME
WIRE - BHELCHAEZREUR
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RRFH1I2EAEHREERER
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30. Financial Risk Management and Fair 0. BRAMEER R FEE

Value Measurements (continued) iTE @

30.4 Credit risk (Continued) 30415 5 A &)

Cash Held by Securities Brokers and bank
balances and cash

At 31 December 2024, the Group has a concentration of credit
risk in respect of cash as 41% (31 December 2023: 97%) held
by bank/securities brokers and the total balance was held by one
(81 December 2023: one) bank/securities broker. The Directors
consider that such concentration of credit risk would not result in
any default exposure to the Group because the counterparty is
a broker with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies.

The Group has a concentration of credit risk in respect of bank
balances which are held by three banks. Bank balances were
placed at financial institutions that have sound credit rating. The
risk of default is low and the Group considers the credit risk to be
insignificant.

30.5 Fair values measurements of financial

instruments

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the
consolidated statement of financial position are grouped
into three levels of a fair value hierarchy. The three levels are
defined based on the observability of significant inputs to the
measurements, as follows:

° Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets and liabilities.

° Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly, and not using significant unobservable
inputs.

o Level 3: significant unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial
assets is categorised in its entirety is based on the lowest level of
input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

"é#.‘z.ﬂ?’bﬁziﬁ%&ﬁ
T4 E?&iﬁﬁ

R2024F12831H  ZEEFHIR
T/ BERERFEZ2REMAS
EEEPER  ILT R AERN
41% (2023%12H31H : 97%)
—% (2023FE128310 : —4) iR
T/ BERERE - BERRZHF
FAEREEIRTERAAS
SEEFRZELEN EERE
EREEETRERBEIATERA
S EmER T RED RS

FEREFERR =BRTZRITE
BHEREEEET AR - RITERT
BREEFRRERZEMEE B
MEBRBEFAEEIREERAR
e

05T AZAFE=

RiEMBRRERZE R FES
BZTHEEREERES=A
FMZzATERER = BEZFRIR
BEAERMBREARBAEZAIHE
BESRE WOF:

e HIR: ERBERBERE
BH5 2 |E CRERE) -

o F2MR BIMRFTEMBEUSS
ZHEENHERERZEE
HEEHAEBE BXLIFER
ERTOERBARIER-

° FEIMP I EANHEEZEE
HERHAE
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30. Financial Risk Management and Fair 0.MBEMEERAFE
Value Measurements (continued) 5T E w
30.5 Fair values measurements of financial 05EFMTEAZAFENE
instruments (Continued) (4&)
The financial assets measured at fair value in the consolidated REEMERTERAULESER
statement of financial position on a recurring basis are grouped ERNTEHFEZEHEEDE
into the fair value hierarchy as follows: PEAUTHAFERR
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B4R 5H24R $3R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER TER FER FET
31 December 2024 2024%12A31H
Financial assets at FVTPL BATESABRZ
SHEE
— Listed equity investments —FHRAERE
Financial assets at FVOCI BAFESARM
EENEZEREE
— Unlisted equity investment —JELTRELRE
Total mat
31 December 2023 2023F12831H
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFESABRZ
TREE
- Listed equity investments —ETRARE 10,778 - - 10,778
Financial assets at FVOCI BATER AEM
EENEZEREE
- Unlisted equity investment —FEEmRALE - - 5,293 5,293
Total at 10,778 - 5,293 16,071
There were no transfers between the levels during the year ended HEC024F12B31HIEEE &S
31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). 4R R fEEE A (20234 1 ) ©
The fair value of financial assets at FVTPL was determined by ?ﬁ’/_\\:FTE FFABmZEMEE
reference to the quoted bid price in the active market. NFEDBZZETRTHELEZEA

BREETE-
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30. Financial Risk Management and Fair 0.MBRKREERATE
Value Measurements (continued) ATEw
30.5 Fair values measurements of financial 05FEMITAZATFENZ
instruments (Continued) €=))
The information about the fair value of the unlisted equity BN IBIEEIM AT EBRFE
investment categorised under Level 3 fair value hierarchy are as ELLTRARERAFEZERD
follows: T
Fair value as at Valuation technique(s)
31 December and key input(s) Significant unobservable input(s)
W12B318 2 AFE HERTREEHAE SEEFETHREAE
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET

5,293 Discounted cash flows Discount rate of 20.96% (31 December 2023: 20.96%)
MIRIRE RS —REIRE420.96% (20235128318 : 20.96%) ;

Forecasted production volume of 220,000
(81 December 2023: 220,000) tonnes per year
— T80 E £ A 5220,000MF (2023F12831H :
220,000M8) ;

Forecasted selling price with base price of RMB2,007
(31 December 2023: RMB2,007) per tonne and
price changes over the projection period; and

—TERHEBEUEEARE2,0077T (20235412831
B ARE2,007m) AEEEKRBARRZ ERE
g &

Marketability discount of 20.50% (31 December 2023:
20.50%)
— A M0 420.50% (2023512831 -
20.50%)

117
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30. Financial Risk Management and Fair .MBERBREERATE

Value Measurements (continued) 5T = @)

05EMT AZAFENE

30.5 Fair values measurements of financial

instruments (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

A 2% increase or decrease in the discount rate used in isolation
would decrease or increase the fair value measurement of
the unlisted equity securities classified as financial assets at
FVOCI approximately by HK$2,552,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$2,552,000) and HK$4,215,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$4,215,000), respectively.

A 10% increase or decrease in the forecasted production
volume used in isolation would increase or decrease the fair
value measurement of the unlisted equity securities classified
as financial assets at FVOCI approximately by HK$2,059,000
(31 December 2023: HK$2,059,000) and HK$2,322,000 (31
December 2023: HK$2,322,000), respectively.

A 10% increase or decrease in the forecasted selling price
used in isolation would increase or decrease the fair value
measurement of the unlisted equity securities classified as
financial assets at FVOCI approximately by HK$3,747,000
(31 December 2023: HK$3,747,000) and HK$2,256,000 (31
December 2023: HK$2,256,000), respectively.

A 2% increase or decrease in the marketability discount used in
isolation would decrease or increase the fair value measurement
of the unlisted equity securities classified as financial assets
at FVOCI approximately by HK$75,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$75,000) and HK$76,000 (31 December 2023: HK$76,000),
respectively.

The fair values of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost are determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis.

()
BRE 7

B ME R~ B IR 18N ok R >

2% B RRAERDBEAERATE
SFTAEMEEREZEREEZ
FLETRABEZAFEFER
D N492,552,00078 75 (2023
F12H831H 2,552,000 1) &
4,215,00078 7T (2023FE12831H :
4,215,000587T) ©

BEFER 28R E S 180
10% B DR ERDEAEBATE
STAEMEZEREZESREE
FLEARAZTHEZAFES 2
ANaE R L 492,059,000 7T (2023
F£12H831H 2,059,000 1) &
2,322,000 70 (20234128314 ¢
2,322,000 7T) °

BEER AR E BEIE MR
DI0% DN ERDEAHZATFE
SFTAEMEEREZERMEEZ
FLETRABESEZ AT ET 2
IR /493,747,000 7T (2023
F12H8318 3,747,000 1) &
2,256,000 77 (2023%F12H31H :
2,256,000 73) °

BEEATBRE SN N
R L2% AN ER D EHER
FTEHFAEMEZANREZZZ EME
EZELmEARESZAFES
=R /0 S8 IN4975,000% 75 (2023
#12H31H : 75,0008 ) &
76,0008 7 (2023FE12831H
76,0005 7T) ©
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30. Financial Risk Management and Fair 0.HERBREERAFE

Value Measurements (continued) HFE @
30.5 Fair values measurements of financial 05FEMITAZATFENZ
instruments (Continued) (4&)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value ERMEERIRATFE
measurements of financial asset EZHER
Unlisted equity
securities classified
as financial assets
at FVOCI
SFAEMEERE
ZEMEEZ
JEETRAES
HK$'000
FET
At 31 December 2022 720228 12831H 20,187
Loss recognised in other comprehensive expense R Eth 2 ERI X R Z K518 (14,894)
At 31 December 2023 and 2024 2023512831 H K20245%12831H 5,293
Investments in equity instruments at FVOCI are subsequently BAFEFAHEMZE K ZEZ R
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes ATAZREHBERATESS
in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and HEATEEHEE 2 W RE1E
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve. REMEENEZERLRFER
BEEGEHEE-
The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of its financial EER A HNEFEEM B RKRZE
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the HEAARZEHREERSHSE

consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair values. BEZREBEREAFTERES-
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31. Capital Management 1L.EAXEE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group wiill
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Company had issued convertible notes with an aggregate principal
amount of HK$8 million (2023: HK$4 million) before 31 December
2024.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and
accumulated losses.

The Directors review the capital structure regularly. As part of this
review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on recommmendations of
the Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new share issues and share repurchase.

SEBEAEEEERFIAER S8
HERENHERLEEE BRBEBEL
BEREDZ FEHIEARELR AR
BIEARFABRETURRERELRS
ABMSEE T (2023F (4B TT) ©
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2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAET FAET FET FET FAET
Results IR
Loss for the year FEEIE (66,644) (15,954) (4,807) (22,401) (17,295)

Assets and liabilites BER&E
Total assets BERE 129,668 63,316 59,616 20,778 6,122
Total liabilities BEHEE (40,747) (14,387) (15,325) (13,782) (16,421)

Net (liabilities) assets (Bl BEEZE 88,921 48,929 44,291 6,996 m

Net (Liabilities) Asset Value & (B85 BEZFE
per Share (HK$) (note) B 0.70 0.40 0.37 0.06

note: Total number of shares outstanding and fully paid as at 31 December 2023 after ot - AR A E20235F128 13_5 R A B AR A 2 8
capital reorganisation effective on 13 December 2023. R2023F 12831 H B #1T R HUE B MH B
Ho



1 22 PROSPERITY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024

Glossary
ey
=

In this annual report (other than the independent auditor’s report as set out on P ZAE RN (F R F43E46E 2 B I 1L BAT R
pages 43 to 46), the following expressions shall have the following meanings &9 »BIEXZE B EFTs > T8 FH A=

unless the context otherwise requires: BEMNTHRE

Associate(s) has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

/N BB EmRBE T & 2 W&

Board board of Directors

BEg BEg

BVI British Virgin Islands

HBEUHE HBEUES

CG Code Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules

PHEFAI ERRAIM B 4P 2 (R EE AT

CODM chief operating decision maker

FELEREFE FELEREKE

Company Prosperity Investment Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability,
whose issued Shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

¥ /NS ]| Prosperity Investment Holdings Limited 2R EFHRE R AR —BRBRESMBILIZBREA
8 HE#ETRAO NI ERLED

Director(s) director(s) of the Company

5= NABESR

ECL expected credit losses

TRHAE &R 1E TEERIEEB1E

ESG Report Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BRI HEREARS

FVOCI
BAFESARthEERGE

FVTPL
BATESABT

GRIH

EIRAR

Group
REH

*

For identification purpose only

RIE-HEREARS

fair value through other comprehensive income

BATEFARMEE WD

fair value through profit or loss

BATES AR

GR Investment Holdings Limited, a limited company incorporated in Hong Kong and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

TREIBRBRAR —ENREBEIMNILZABRAS TAKRATZE2ENBAE

the Company and its subsidiaries
RRBREMB AT

© MR



HKAS
B G R

HKFRSs

EEBVBREEL

HKICPA

BEBEEMAE

Hong Kong
55

INED(s)
BUIEHITES

Listing Rules
EAERAY

MPF Scheme

B8

Model Code

RAETRY

Net Asset Value
BESE

Opus Capital

HRE

Prosperity Management

REEHE

2024 3% /) mepzEErasmram 123

Glossary
a=a
50 5T

Hong Kong Accounting Standards issued by HKICPA
BEESRIASGEMR BB SR

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (HKFRSs) are standards and interpretations adopted
by HKICPA, comprise of Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (HKFRSs); HKASs; HK(IFRIC)
Interpretations; and HK(SIC) Interpretations

EENBREGENZES A SR GMRMNEN K2R SEE BV BREER, BEEGTE
A ; &% ERMBREER) REREE (BHBHEZES) EM2MmEAS

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
EEGIAE

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
REEEFNITHE

independent non-executive Director(s)

BIUIFRITESR

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

32 FEE F5 LT AR A

Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme established under Mandatory Provident Funds Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
RIBEE R LG E485F R FIM A SR AIM I M 2% A TE R 2

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of
the Listing Rules
FHRAIMEROFTE 2 E BT AERETHE SRS NFRETA]

the consolidated net asset value of the Group as reflected in its audited financial statements

FEBRNEERMHFREARRZGEEEFE

Opus Capital Management Limited, the investment manager of the Group since 1 January 2019 that
provides investment management services to the Group and a private limited company incorporated
in Hong Kong and licensed to carry out Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under SFO
BIEEABEARAR B2019F 1B 1HARER 2 KREKIE  aEnAEFIEHIEEEIER
B Th—BEREBEMMIIZAMABRAR MIRBESKAERAPTETER REEEE
18B) SREFSHZFHEA

People’s Republic of China, which for the purpose of this annual report, excludes Hong Kong, Macau
and Taiwan

PEARHANE SiAFHRME > AREES BRI REE

Prosperity Management Services Limited, a limited company incorporated in Hong Kong and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
REBERBARAS —HREBAMBIZERRAF UAKABZ2EWB AR
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Share(s)

R

Shareholder(s)
&

SFO
B RAERS

Stock Exchange
B 22 BT

Systems

—=

USA
EH

Year

REE

Year End Date
FHEH

Year 2023
2023FEFE

2022 IM Agreement
2022 K E TR
HK$

BT

RMB
AR

usD
=TT

Annual Report 2024

share(s) of HK$0.001 each in the share capital of the Company
A B IR AP EREE0.001 BT 2 1D

holder(s) of Share(s)
ESHESTEPN

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
BB EOIEET1ERH REAE R

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BERHMERXZMBERAE

the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
AEBRBEIERNEBEZEZZR

United States of America
EH 2 ERE

year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEFE

at 31 December 2024
722024%12831H

year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEFE

the agreement dated 18 January 2022 entered between the Company and Opus Capital regarding
the appointment of Opus Capital as the Company’s investment manager for the period from
1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024

KRB EHBIEEARN2022F1B18H5] L 2 BEMBERIEE AR AR RT H2022F1B1HEE
202412831 H LA 2 I B AR TR

Hong Kong Dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BEREEGEETT

Renminbi, the lawful currency of PRC
REEEEBARE

United States Dollar, the lawful currency of USA
EELEEEEET
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